PUBLIC NOTICE:

A

home

Home Forward
BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS
will meet on
Tuesday, December 16, 2025
At 5:30 pm
Via Zoom Webinar

Join from PC, Mac, iPad, or Android:
https://homeforward.zoom.us/j/884555738367?pwd=fahROPuNbOIGQluhX9
JzZQUBWOS6mae.1
Passcode: 773770

Phone one-tap:
+17193594580,,88455573836#,,,,"150593# US

Join via audio:
833 548 0276 US Toll Free
833 548 0282 US Toll Free
877 853 5257 US Toll Free
888 475 4499 US Toll Free
Webinar ID: 884 5557 3836
Passcode: 150593



https://homeforward.zoom.us/j/88455573836?pwd=fahR9PuNbOIGQluhX9JzQUBWOS6mae.1
https://homeforward.zoom.us/j/88455573836?pwd=fahR9PuNbOIGQluhX9JzQUBWOS6mae.1

&

homeforwarad

MEMORANDUM

To: Community Partners pate: December 10, 2025

rom: Ivory N. Mathews, Chief Executive suject: - Home Forward Board of
Officer Commissioners December

Meeting

The Board of Commissioners of Home Forward will meet on Tuesday, December 16 at
5:30 PM virtually using the Zoom webinar platform. The meeting will be accessible to the
public via phone and electronic device.

If you would like to provide public testimony or view the meeting, please use this link or the
call in information:

Join from PC, Mac, iPad, or Android:
https://homeforward.zoom.us/|/884555738367pwd=fahROPuNbOIGQIuhX9JzQUBWOS6mae. 1
Passcode: 150593

Phone one-tap:
+17193594580,,88455573836#,,,,150593# US

Join via audio:

833 548 0276 US Toll Free
833 548 0282 US Toll Free
877 853 5257 US Toll Free
888 475 4499 US Toll Free
Webinar ID: 884 5557 3836
Passcode: 150593

The commission meeting is open to the public.

135 SW Ash Street, Portland, Oregon 97204 TteL 503.802.8300 771v 503.802.8554 homeforward.org


https://homeforward.zoom.us/j/88455573836?pwd=fahR9PuNbOIGQluhX9JzQUBWOS6mae.1

AGENDA

Home Forward Board of Commissioners
December 2025



&

homeforward

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS MEETING

HOME FORWARD
135 SW ASH STREET
PORTLAND, OREGON
VIA ZOOM
https://homeforward.zoom.us/j/884555738367pwd=fahRIPuNbOIGQIuhX9JzQUBWOS6mae
1

DECEMBER 16, 2025, 5:30 PM
AGENDA

INTRODUCTION AND WELCOME

PUBLIC COMMENT
General comments not pertaining to specific resolutions. Any public comment regarding a
specific resolution will be heard when the resolution is considered.

MEETING MINUTES

Minutes of November 18, 2025 Board of Commissioners Virtual Meeting

REPORTS AND RESOLUTIONS
Following Reports and Resolutions:

25-12 Topic Presenter/POC ‘ Phone #
01 Authorize Fiscal Year 2026 Budget Kandy Sage 503.802.8585
Brian Rutzen 503.802.8471
02 Authorize Home Forward Insurance Kandy Sage 503.802.8585
Renewals Jeff Klatke 503.802.8531
03 Authorize Amendment to Rent Jimmy Rattanasouk | 503.802.8403
Assistance Administrative Plan to lan Slingerland 503.802.8370
Implement Rent Increase Policy

Home Forward Board of Commissioners 3
December 2025


https://homeforward.zoom.us/j/88455573836?pwd=fahR9PuNbOIGQluhX9JzQUBWOS6mae.1
https://homeforward.zoom.us/j/88455573836?pwd=fahR9PuNbOIGQluhX9JzQUBWOS6mae.1

THE NEXT MEETING OF THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS

The Board Work Sessions are quarterly with the next meeting on Thursday, February 5, 2026
at Noon in person at Home Forward 135 SW Ash St. The next Board of Commissioners
meeting is on Tuesday, January 20, 2026 at 5:30 PM.

EXECUTIVE SESSION

The Board of Commissioners of Home Forward may meet in Executive Session pursuant to
ORS 192.660(2). Only representatives of the news media and designated staff are allowed to
attend. News media and all other attendees are specifically directed not to disclose
information that is the subject of the session. No final decision will be made in the session.

ADJOURN

Home Forward Board of Commissioners 4
December 2025



MINUTES

Home Forward Board of Commissioners
December 2025



&

homeforwarad

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS MONTHLY MEETING
HOME FORWARD
HELD VIRTUALLY
135 SW Ash Street Portland, OR 97204
November 18, 2025

COMMISSIONERS PRESENT
Chair Matthew Gebhardt, Vice Chair Jenny Kim, Treasurer Jessy Ledesma, Chair Emeritus
Damien Hall, Commissioners Cathy Keathley and Breann Preston

STAFF PRESENT

Juhi Aggarwal, Rylee Ahnen, Elise Anderson, April Berg, Gabriella Caddell, lan Davie,
Robert Dell, Christina Dirks, Juli Garvey, Carolina Gomez, Alexa Graham, Karena Gruber,
Biljana Jesic, Lydia Lovelace, Ivory Mathews, Jennifer McMillan, Tara Messier, Kitty Miller,
Jimmy Rattanasouk, Brian Rutzen, Kandy Sage, Amanda Saul, Kellie Shaw, Aimee Smith,
Celia Strauss, Jonathan Trutt, Linda Uppinghouse, Nikolia Ursin, Terren Wing.

There were also many employees that joined the meeting to listen.

LEGAL COUNSEL
Sarah Stauffer Curtiss

Chair Matthew Gebhardt convened the meeting of the Board of Commissioners at 5:32
PM.

Cathy Millis, resident at Dahlke Manor, joined the meeting expressing concern that the
property manager position remains unfilled and the temporary fill ins are rarely there. Millis
was able to confirm her application for the Resident Commissioner position was received
and she is hopeful of an interview. The resumption of the SNAP benefits made for a good
week. Chair Matthew Gebhardt thanked Millis for participating and assured her staff
would be following up with her concerns.

Charles Robertson, Community Builder at New Columbia gave a shout out to CEO Ivory
Mathews for helping with turkey give away. Home Forward’s partnership with Jeremy
Grant’s foundation, Hour Generation Foundation in this annual event means a lot.

Home Forward Board of Commissioners 6
December 2025



Robertson was proud to work alongside our leader who walks-the-talk and showed
graciousness and love in her heart. Chair Gebhardt appreciated hearing from Robertson
and said he had been briefed about the event. It's a reminder of the hunger in our
community and we appreciate the leadership you also bring.

Jennifer McMillan, a past public housing resident, 14-year Home Forward employee and
currently AFSCME Local 3135 President presented public comment. From the time the
Trump administration released its proposed budget in May, until mid-October, we were
told things were okay and Home Forward’s operations would continue as normal. We saw
no signs of concern with new positions created, hiring and overtime continued, and no
fiscal restrictions were put in place. In November we are suddenly faced with a $35 million
shortfall and anticipated layoffs.

We are trying to understand how we got from “business as usual” to a $35 million deficit in
just a few weeks. Employees and the union feel they have been kept in the dark without
clear and concrete information. Without this information we cannot support or prepare our
members during this uncertain time. McMillian is asking for real transparency and essential
communication, not just for planning but for maintaining trust. They hold leadership
accountable for the decisions that have brought us here and feel cuts should begin at the
top and not with frontline staff who keep Home Forward functioning every day.

McMillian supports the needs of our residents and participants, but it must not come at
the expense of employees’ wellbeing. She recounted what employee struggles and
injustices look like, asking if we are a trauma-informed organization, that must include the
people “who” serve, not just those we serve. In closing, McMillian is calling for honesty,
leadership that takes accountability and a plan that protects the employees who make
Home Forward possible. She thanked the board and hoped they will ask questions and
remember that protecting the day-to-day workforce protects the mission itself.

Chair Gebhardt thanked McMillian for shedding light on the impact on staff and the call for
transparency. We agree with you about the shortfall surprise. The board has been working
closely with leadership in our recent work session and board retreat to ensure we
understand the issue and impacts. | am encouraged by their compassion and
understanding the importance of the guiding principles. Another piece is overall timing, and
in some sense is early with more opportunity to collaborate with recommendations you
raised being discussed.

Home Forward Board of Commissioners 7
December 2025



Lydia Lovelace, Case Manager at Hollywood East, presented comments. Her plea asked
that frontline staffing cuts be last on the list with careful contemplation before anything is
finalized. Lovelace’s primary points are that direct support for residents is necessary now
more than ever and the consequences of job loss will disproportionately impact frontline
staff, in some cases leading to irreversible consequences. She addressed the frontline
staff sharing examples of interaction with the residents. Lovelace pointed out that even
with recent and generous increases to wages, many employees continue to live paycheck
to paycheck without significant savings. As a single earner without family to help would
affect her housing and living situation. She shared jobless impacts for some of her peers.
In closing, Lovelace hoped Home Forward would see the human faces and families behind
the numbers. Without frontline staff, we cannot continue to serve our residents and behave
in a mission-aligned manner as an agency.

Chair Gebhardt thanked Lovelace for sharing the important impact these decisions have
on our residents and staff. We hear regularly how important frontline staff are. Leadership
is listening. The board and leadership will continue to work together with the board
providing strategic guidance and oversight.

Alexa Graham, Rent Assistance Coordinator took a budget approach identifying key
findings from the FY25 budget. Beginning with staffing increases without explanation, the
agency added approximately 27 new full-time positions, without an explanation or
justification. Graham would like to see a staffing impact report that includes workload
measurements, and vacancy and overtime reports. She feels this approach would identify
increase in workload, and unfilled positions’ reliance on overtime allowing an
understanding if staffing levels are appropriate or efficient.

Graham looked at the movement of dollars between departments such as property
management, administration and internal services and as well as resources transferred
from other programs. There was little explanation to track who receives the money, who
sends it and why the transfers are necessary, which could create risk of delaying a major
payment. Graham suggested a money movement map that would include a chart showing
department supported programs, a quarterly schedule of large payments, and a six-month
safety buffer that supports departments to assure there are operational funds available.

Graham addressed the shrinking of the Public Housing program and how it is supporting
other parts of the agency, saying the contribution is not proportional to the size of the
remaining portfolio. She would like to tie public housing contributions to the number of
units it operates and the actual financial health of the program.

4

Home Forward Board of Commissioners 8
December 2025



Graham raised concerns for who is responsible for safety issues. Her solution would be a
safety performance plan that includes clear response time rules, incident reporting
standards describing how issues are logged and tracked, a monthly safety report to the
board and a service agreement between departments stating responsibilities.

Lastly, Graham suggested a funding backup ladder if Rent Assistance federal funding is
uncertain. As funding shifts, establish a report in incremental stages, if funding drops at
2% pause new hiring, a 5% drop pause bringing on new households, at 7% use reserves
under specific rules that protect long term stability. Graham’s solutions reflect our guiding
principles, and she is hoping we can work together and be transparent.

Chair Gebhardt thanked Graham for her thoughtful review and found it helpful to be
reminded of what transparency means. He appreciated the creative ideas and thought that
went into the solutions.

Gabriel Caddell, a three-year employee in the Talent and Organizational Development
reflected on the possibility of losing her position when earlier in the year there was nothing
to worry about. She loves working at Home Forward, the connections and the security she
has enjoyed. Today Caddell feels it is being ripped away. She asked the board to
recognize these are people, not just a number and the concern and fear is valid.

Chair Gebhardt appreciated Caddell’s thoughtful message speaking to the impact she and
her colleagues are facing. This resonates with Gebhardt as a union representative and
understands the associated impact. The board will be incorporating your input and those
before you as we continue through the budget process.

MEETING MINUTES

Minutes of the October 3, 2025 Emergency Board of Commissioners Virtual Meeting and
the October 21, 2025 Board of Commissioners Virtual Meeting

Chair Matthew Gebhardt requested a motion authorizing approval of the minutes for the
October 3, 2025 Emergency Board of Commissioners Virtual Meeting and October 21,
2025 Board of Commissioners Virtual Meeting.

There being no discussion, Chair Emeritus Damien Hall moved to approve the meeting
minutes. Vice Chair Jenny Kim seconded the motion.

The vote was as follows:
Chair Matthew Gebhardt—Aye

Home Forward Board of Commissioners 9
December 2025



Vice Chair Jenny Kim—Aye

Chair Emeritus Damien Hall—Aye
Commissioner Cathy Keathley—Aye
Commissioner Breann Preston— Abstained

RESOLUTIONS

Resolution 25-11-01 Authorize Contract with Hacker Architecture for Gresham Civic
Station

Jonathan Trutt, Development Director, presented the resolution noting there are three
resolutions pertaining to the Gresham Civic Station and provided a project overview. He
introduced Nikolai Ursin, Affordable Housing Developer, Robert Dell, Project Manager and
IRCO Assistant Director of Programing Jihane Nami. The Gresham Civic Station name is a
placeholder for now until a naming process takes place.

Trutt described the 60-unit project that will include a four-classroom Early Learning Center
run by Immigrant and Refugee Community Organization (IRCO). The units will be deeply
affordable with wrap-around, culturally specific services. Developed in partnership with
IRCO Trutt described the bedroom sizes and the rental assistance. He walked through the
key features of the project and described the partnership with IRCO.

The previous approval for the design services connect did not include design work for the
IRCO Early Learning Center changing the project scope. We also explored more housing
options which required additional design services and community engagement. Trutt
reviewed the details of the changes, saying that while there were increases in design
services, many of the changes incorporated led to overall construction and operational
costs savings. Noting costs associated with IRCO’s classrooms will be reimbursed.

In closing, the Gresham Civic Station resolutions were reviewed by the READ Committee
at the November 7, 2025 meeting.

There being no further discussion, Chair Matthew Gebhardt requested a motion to
approve Resolution 25-11-01. Commissioner Breann Preston moved to adopt Resolution
25-11-01. Commissioner Cathy Keathley seconded the motion.

The vote was as follows:
Chair Matthew Gebhardt—Aye
Vice Chair Jenny Kim—Aye
Chair Emeritus Damien Hall—Aye

Home Forward Board of Commissioners 10
December 2025



Commissioner Cathy Keathley—Aye
Commissioner Breann Preston—Aye

Resolution 25-11-02 Authorize Guaranteed Maximum Price Construction Contract
Amendment with Bremik Construction for Gresham Civic Station

Development Director Trutt presented the resolution saying the board is familiar with this
standard process used on projects. He reviewed Bremick’s process for soliciting bids and
the proposed contract amendment of $39,197,940. Trutt described the construction
contingency fund and the allowance set aside for off-site infrastructure and the funding
sources.

Commissioner Cathy Keathley asked about the infrastructure work and if the $2.1 million
would be adequate and the responsibility of Gresham. Trutt and Nikolia Ursin, Affordable
Housing Developer feel it is a conservative guestimate and once the scope is narrowed,
work bid, there will be enough resources to accomplish what the city wants.

There being no further discussion, Chair Matthew Gebhardt requested a motion to
approve Resolution 25-11-02. Commissioner Cathy Keathley moved to adopt Resolution
25-11-02. Vice Chair Jenny Kim seconded the motion.

The vote was as follows:
Chair Matthew Gebhardt—Aye
Vice Chair Jenny Kim—Aye
Chair Emeritus Damien Hall—Aye
Commissioner Cathy Keathley—Aye
Commissioner Breann Preston—Aye

Resolution 25-11-03 Authorize Omnibus Financing for Gresham Civic Station

Jonathan Trutt, Director of Development, reviewed the final Civic Station resolution to
contract public and private sources for the project. There will be a construction loan
through Wells Fargo that will be repaid in full after Gresham Civic Station achieves
stabilized occupancy. Trutt walked through the list of permanent sources including LIHTCs
through Wells Fargo, LIFT funds through Oregon Housing & Community Services and
Metro bond funds via the City of Gresham. Home Forward will have no investments long
term when providing a bridge loan to help IRCO with building out the classrooms. Through
fundraising efforts, they will repay Home Forward. In closing, Trutt noted that IRCO’s lease
will be $1.00 for 99 years.

Home Forward Board of Commissioners 1"
December 2025



Commissioner Breann Preston appreciated the explanation, adding details reflected in the
packet were helpful understanding Home Forward’s obligations. Chair Gebhardt said the
READ committee conversations were thorough and he recognized the amazing work by
staff on a complicated process. He appreciated seeing the larger unit sizes in response to
the need in the community.

There being no further discussion, Chair Matthew Gebhardt requested a motion to
approve Resolution 25-11-03. Commissioner Cathy Keathley moved to adopt Resolution
25-11-03. Vice Chair Jenny Kim seconded the motion.

The vote was as follows:
Chair Matthew Gebhardt—Aye
Vice Chair Jenny Kim—Aye
Chair Emeritus Damien Hall—Aye
Commissioner Cathy Keathley—Aye
Commissioner Breann Preston—Aye

Resolution 25-11-04 Authorize Co-General Partnership Ownership Structure with the
Immigrant and Refugee Community Organization for Gresham Civic Station

Jonathan Trutt presented the resolution saying it aligns with our strategic plan goal for
social justice and development work in partnership with culturally specific providers. We
began our partnership with IRCO at Peaceful Villa. Trutt described the Civic Station
collaboration and ownership structurer, plus roles and responsibilities. The joint venture
provides IRCO a design opportunity for the early childhood center and bedroom sizes.
Trutt felt this partnership plays to both organizations’ strengths. He reviewed the details of
the agreement.

Jihane Nami, IRCO Associate Director of Programs, expressed excitement for the
partnership and project. IRCO has been involved in the broader community for 50 years.
They are looking forward to learning from Home Forward. Providing a multicultural
resource to the heart of Gresham is important as our community is facing the loss of safety
nets. She thanked the board for their consideration and support. Trutt said there will be
one more step in finalizing how the organizations will work together at the end of LIHTC
15-year point. He anticipates a review by READ soon.

Chair Matthew Gebhardt appreciated the culminating efforts. Adding he is excited with the
second type of partnership and to hear IROC’s perspective. Commissioner Breann

Home Forward Board of Commissioners 12
December 2025



Preston liked the approach to risk and how it was shared and weighted across the
agencies.

There being no further discussion, Chair Matthew Gebhardt requested a motion to
approve Resolution 25-11-04. Vice Chair Jenny Kim moved to adopt Resolution 25-11-
04. Commissioner Breann Preston seconded the motion.

The vote was as follows:
Chair Matthew Gebhardt—Aye
Vice Chair Jenny Kim—Aye
Chair Emeritus Damien Hall—Aye
Commissioner Cathy Keathley—Aye
Commissioner Breann Preston—Aye

Resolution 25-11-05 Authorize NOAH OAHTC Permanent Loan Modification for 3000
Powell/Hazel Ying Lee Apartments

Amanda Saul, Assistant Development Director, presented the resolution and new financial
structure. The construction loan maturity was successfully extended from September 18,
2025 to March 18, 2026. To minimize the financial impact on Home Forward and to
provide stability for the project today and beyond, we have negotiated an additional award
of $1.5 million from the Portland Housing Bureau. Oregon Housing and Community
Services have awarded $4,300,000 in OAHTC that will be paired with a new NOAH
permanent loan of $4,300,000. The new NOAH OAHTC loan will have a fixed interest rate
of 2.83% with a 16-year term and a 35-year amortization. Saul reported this would be the
last request on this project.

Chair Gebhardt said READ reviewed the behind-the-scenes leg work by Michael Fu,
Housing Development Manager with a great outcome. Commissioner Breann Preston
asked if it was typical for the state to provide this type of funding. Saul said we often do
have state funding such as this, as well as affordable housing tax credits and LIFT funding.

There being no further discussion, Chair Matthew Gebhardt requested a motion to
approve Resolution 25-11-05. Vice Chair Jenny Kim moved to adopt Resolution 25-11-
05. Commissioner Cathy Keathley seconded the motion.

The vote was as follows:
Chair Matthew Gebhardt—Aye
Vice Chair Jenny Kim—Aye

Home Forward Board of Commissioners 13
December 2025



Chair Emeritus Damien Hall—Aye
Commissioner Cathy Keathley—Aye
Commissioner Breann Preston—Aye

General Counsel Juhi Aggarwal reported that following the emergency board meeting we
did enter litigation against HUD with seven other parties on October 15, 2025. There was
a preliminary injunction granted which means we can apply for and receive our federal
funding. Since our steps, larger industry groups have acted. CLPHA and NAHRO have
both passed resolutions to litigate. Aggarwal noted that having CEO Mathews’ leadership
on these boards has been beneficial.

Chair Emeritus Damien Hall thanked Aggarwal. He appreciated the work and Home
Forward’s leadership of these successful strategies. Chair Gebhardt welcomed the
positive updates in this challenging environment. He thanked everyone for coming
together and having something to reflect on.

There being no further business, Chair Matthew Gebhardt adjourned the meeting at 6:53
PM.

Celia M. Strauss
Recorder, on behalf of
Ivory N. Mathews, Secretary

ADOPTED: DECEMBER 16, 2025

Attest: Home Forward:

Ivory N. Mathews, Secretary Matthew Gebhardt, Chair

10

Home Forward Board of Commissioners 14
December 2025



RESOLUTIONS

Home Forward Board of Commissioners
December 2025



"‘\
&
%}:

homeforward
VYV v

MEMORANDUM

To: Board of Commissioners pae:  December 16, 2025

rom: Kandy Sage sweet  Fiscal Year 2026 Budget
Chief Financial Officer Resolution 25-12-01

503.802.8585

Brian Rutzen
Director of Financial Analytics
503.802.8471

The Board of Commissioners is requested to approve Home Forward’s Fiscal Year (FY)
2026 budget for the period of January 1 to December 31, 2026.

The budget is comprised of four main sections:
e Management Discussion (pages 1 to 6)
e Agency level information
o Operating statement with Funding Flow Analysis (pages 7 to 8)
o Line-ltem Analysis and Budget Assumptions (pages 9 to 14)
e Operating Group level information
o Operating and administrative segment budget review (pages 15 to 16)
o Budget Commentary (pages 17 to 43)
e Additional Attachments (pages 44 to end of document)
o Includes information regarding Moving to Work (MTW) initiatives, households
served, subsidy proration trends, funding vs cost trends, headcount
changes, acronym key and FY2026 budget by operating group.

Planned activities for the upcoming year include:
e Total unduplicated households served are anticipated to be approximately 17,286
households.

Home Forward Board of Commissioners 16
December 2025



e Housing Choice Voucher will implement a variety of programmatic adjustments in
the fiscal year including a continued pause in pulling from the voucher waitlist and
adjustments to payment standards at 100% of Fair Market Rent (FMR).

e Occupancy is budgeted at forecasted levels by property and averages 98% for
public housing units and 93% for the remainder of the portfolio.

e Staffing levels are expected to decrease by 24.5 full-time equivalents (FTE) to a total
of 353 positions. Of the staffing decreases, 5.5 FTE were mid-year additions and a
reduction of 30 FTE identified as part of the budget process.

o Agency funded 299.9
o Other legal entity funded 53.1

Key financial highlights for the Fiscal Year 2026 budget include (numbers may differ
slightly from source documents due to rounding):
e Annual operating revenues are projected to be $301.7 million, an increase of $3.7

million.

o Dwelling rental is estimated to be $32.5 million, a decrease of $2.2 million

from FY 2025 due to updated vacancy projections.

HUD subsidies will provide over $192.7 million in housing assistance,
operating and capital funding, an estimated decrease from FY 2025 to $2.2
million.

State, Local & Other grants are estimated to be $46.5 million, an increase of
$7.8 million from FY 2025. driven primarily by an increase in funding for our
locally funded long-term rent assistance program and Metro funded
services contracts.

e Annual operating expenses are projected to be $332.5, an increase of $38.5

million.

o Housing assistance payments are estimated to be approximately $229.7

million, an increase from FY 2025 of $30.3 million driven primarily by
increases in the regional and federal long-term rent assistance programs.
Personnel expense is projected to be $48.8 million, an increase of $2.7
million from FY 2025.

Home Forward Board of Commissioners 17

December 2025



o Other administrative expense is expected to be approximately $17.3 million,
a decrease of $366 thousand from FY2026 and includes IT infrastructure,
security patrol costs and third-party property management payroll costs.

Earned developer fees are expected to total $9.3 million with $16.8 million in cash

payments anticipated during this fiscal year.

e Based on the impact of items above, Home Forward anticipates a net operating
loss for the year in the amount of $30.8 million.

e Investment income is expected to yield $1.3 million along with $1.8 million in
interest expense in FY 2026.

e The combined impact yields a $28 million decrease to change to net position after
reserve funding.

e Finally, agency results are converted from a generally accepted accounting

principles (GAAP) format to a funding flow presentation to better present the funds

available to support agency operations and reserves.

This year’s budget was prepared with several estimates, the most significant being the
level of federal funding available for the Housing Choice Voucher and Public Housing
programs. At the time of budget approval, the federal government is operating under a
continuing resolution. As such, estimates of the main federally funded programs are
based on the best assumptions regarding current and historical funding levels.

Home Forward Board of Commissioners 18
December 2025



A

home

RESOLUTION 25-12-01

RESOLUTION 25-12-01 APPROVING AND ADOPTING HOME FORWARD’S BUDGET
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31, 2026

WHEREAS, Home Forward is committed to maintaining high standards relating to the
management of fiscal resources and the stewardship of public funds and assets; and

WHEREAS, the staff of Home Forward has carefully and thoughtfully prepared the fiscal
year 2026 budget to administer the programs and accomplish the objectives of the

Agency for the period beginning January 1, 2026, and ending December 31, 2026; and

WHEREAS, the budget identifies expected sources of revenue and funds held in reserves
which are sufficient to cover planned expenditures for the fiscal year, and;

WHEREAS, the Board of Commissioners has reviewed the budget and inquired with staff
on the various aspects and components of the budget;

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the Board of Commissioners of Home Forward
approves and adopts the budget as submitted for the fiscal year ending December 31,
2026.

ADOPTED: DECEMBER 16, 2025

Attest: Home Forward:

Ivory N. Mathews, Secretary Matthew Gebhardt, Chair

Home Forward Board of Commissioners 19
December 2025



&5

homeforward

FY26 Budget

aaaaa y 1, 2026, through December 31, 2026




Table of Contents

Management Discussion 1
Operating Statement & Summary of Funding Flow 7
Line Item Analysis & Assumptions 9
Operating and Administrative Segment Review 15
FY26 Operating Statement by Operating GrOUD ........oueii it 15
FY26 Staffing Summary by Operating GrOUP ........coiiiiiiieiiiiee ettt e et e e e e e et e e e e enneeeeenees 16
Budget Commentary — ReNt ASSISTANCE .......uuiiiiiiiiiie e 17
Budget Commentary — Public HOUSING POMtfOlO ........c.uuiiiiiiiiei e 22
Budget Commentary — Affordable HouSiNng POIfOlIO .........oooiiiiiiiiiiiee e 24
Budget Commentary — Asset Management ...........oii it 26
Budget Commentary — Property ManagemeEnt...........cc.uiiiiiiiiiiiiiie ettt et e e e nee e 27
Budget Commentary — SAFELY ......c..eiiiiiiii e 29
Budget Commentary — Integrated FacilitieS SErviCes ...........ooiiiiiiiiii e 30
Budget Commentary — Development & Community Revitalization...............cccccoooiiiiiiiii e 32
Budget Commentary — COMMUNILY SEIVICES .....ouuuiiiiiiiiieiiiie ettt e et e e 38
Budget Commentary — AdmINISTratioN..........uuiiiiii e 41
Budget Commentary — Real EState FINANCE .........coooiiiiiiiiiii ettt e e e e e e e 43
Attachments 44
Summary of Moving to Work Initiative FUNAS ...........oooiiii e 44
FY26 Estimated Households Served by Category ........ .. oo 47
FY26 Estimated Rent Assistance Households Served by Category........c.vevviiiiiiiiiiiiiec e 48
10 o1 oV o = i o] o I I {=T o Lo < PRSP PRR 49
Cumulative Change in HCV Funding vs. Cumulative Change in Metro Area Apartment Rent ......................... 50
FTE Change CompariSON SCREAUIE...........cooiiiiiiiieee ettt e et e e et e e 54
o] 177 418 Y RS 57
FY26 Operating Statement by Operating GrOUD ........cocuuiiiiie et e e e e e e e s e s e e e e e e e anaes 56
Home Forward Board of Commissioners 21

December 2025



Management Discussion

This document presents the planned activities and financial budget for Home Forward for the twelve months
beginning January 1, 2026, and ending December 31, 2026 (FY26).

General Overview

The Federal Housing Act of 1937 authorized the creation of public housing authorities. Utilizing the 1937 Federal
Housing Act, the Portland City Council established Home Forward (at that time, the Housing Authority of Portland) as
a municipal corporation under the Oregon Revised Statutes in December 1941.

A nine-member Board of Commissioners governs Home Forward. Four appointments are recommended by the City
of Portland, two by the City of Gresham, two by Multnomah County, and there is one resident commissioner. Home
Forward is not financially dependent on nor considered a component unit of any of the above jurisdictions. The Board
appoints the Chief Executive Officer and is responsible for the daily functioning of Home Forward.

Home Forward is one of only 39 original public housing authorities in the country (out of more than 3,300) that have
been selected by the US Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) and approved by Congress to
participate in the Moving to Work (MTW) program. Moving to Work is a long-term federal pilot program designed to
learn whether public housing authorities can serve their communities better with more local discretion over funding
allocation, policies, and procedures. Home Forward has been operating as a Moving to Work agency since April 1,
1999. The MTW designation allows for exemptions from specific federal requirements, enabling the merger of
Housing Choice Voucher & administrative funds and Public Housing Operating & Capital Funds into a single fund,
which allows Home Forward to create and implement innovative programs across its five main mission-based
business lines.

The main mission-based business lines are:

¢ Real Estate Properties — Home Forward owns, manages, or is a partner in 115 properties with 7,202 units. Of
these, 43 properties with 3,702 units are owned through tax credit partnerships, of which Home Forward is the
minority owner. This document does not include the forecasted and budgeted results of these 43 tax credit
properties.

For public housing properties, revenue is generated from two primary sources: 1) HUD subsidies — based on a
HUD-approved rate multiplied by the number of HUD-approved units multiplied by a proration rate, and 2) tenant
revenue — rents collected from residents, which are driven by occupancy levels and by tenant income levels.

For affordable housing properties, revenue is mainly generated by tenant rents and impacted by occupancy levels
and contractually allowed affordable rental rates based on unit size.

¢ Real Estate Services — includes Asset Management, Property Management, and Integrated Facilities Services
for our affordable, master-leased, and public housing properties.

As part of Home Forward's current strategic plan, the Asset Management group now provides long-term planning
services to Home Forward's entire real estate portfolio. Asset Management generates fee income and uses cash
flow generated from the real estate portfolio. The department also creates revenue from overseeing affordable
properties our jurisdictional partners own.

Home Forward’s Property Management group oversees the daily operations, compliance, and maintenance at 43
properties. The group generates property management fees to cover costs and uses cash flow generated from
the real estate portfolio.

Home Forward 1
Home Forward Board of Commissioners 22
December 2025



Integrated Facilities Services is Home Forward’s specialized maintenance service, including electrical work,
plumbing, pest control, and bulky waste hauling. Fees are earned based on billable services to Home Forward's
real estate portfolio.

¢ Rent Assistance — includes traditional and non-traditional rent assistance programs. Traditional programs
include federally designed Housing Choice Vouchers, Veterans Affairs Supportive Housing (VASH), Family
Unification Program (FUP) Vouchers, Single Room Occupancy/Moderate Rehabilitation (SRO/MOD), and Shelter
Plus Care. Non-traditional rent assistance programs include locally developed short-, medium-, and long-term
rent assistance and rent assistance combined with partner services. Home Forward provides rental assistance to
over 16,000 households through these programs annually. The short-term initiatives began in FY20 and will
continue into FY2026.

The Housing Choice Voucher Program (Section 8) is the most extensive rent assistance program administered by
Home Forward, with funding determined by vouchers authorized, voucher utilization, and proration rates.

e Community Services — includes social and economic development programs for families and administration of
community housing and service partnerships throughout Multnomah County. Programs include congregate
supportive housing and family self-sufficiency programs. Cost reimbursement grants and property fees typically
fund these programs.

o Development — includes work on large-scale development projects such as T. Joyce Philips, York Terrace, Metro
Bond housing affordable housing developments, and improvement of our existing properties, such as 85 Stories
(part of Home Forward’s public housing preservation initiative), using capital grants, local grants, and mainstream
financing products. Revenue for this group is generated by developer fees, which may be earned in one reporting
period but paid in a different period.

Budget Principles

The budget document provides greater context around where we are investing our resources to achieve the goals of
ensuring the members of our community are housed.

This document presents comparative budget information in a Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP)
format and a Funding Flow (simplified operating cash basis) format. The reader must understand this distinction, as
specific revenue and expense items may be recorded in one fiscal year. At the same time, the cash involved impacts
a different fiscal year (such as development fee revenue) or has no cash impact (such as depreciation expense).
Additionally, this document only presents the results of Home Forward's legal entity and does not include the budget
of any blended or discretely presented units.

The budget was created with several guiding principles:

e Current-year activities will be funded with current-year revenue, business line reserves, allowable transfers from
other programs, or agency-level reserves. In addition, any remaining funds will be assigned to reserves for
specific purposes or general reserves to address funding volatility.

e Because the life cycle of development projects spans several years, we monitor development performance to
match that life cycle rather than using a single-year snapshot.

e Revenues for the Housing Choice Voucher program and administration are budgeted using estimates for program
leasing & attrition, payment standards, and a variety of other projections. Public Housing Operating Subsidy and
Public Housing Capital Grant are budgeted based on estimated rates and prorations as determined from a
combination of 2025 actual funding rates and congressional funding bill proposals.

Home Forward 2
Home Forward Board of Commissioners 23
December 2025



Funds using MTW flexibility are aligned with strategic initiatives.

Home Forward strives to meet the MTW requirement of serving substantially the same number of households as
it would if it did not have MTW status.

Funds from selling real estate are generally dedicated to acquiring, developing, and preserving real estate assets.

Budget Summary

Key Activities and Financial Highlights for Fiscal Year 26

Key activities planned for Fiscal Year 26 include:

Development will provide development services at a variety of stages to T. Joyce Philips, Broadway Corridor,
Chaku Kumtuks Haws, York Terrace, Fairfield, Peaceful Villa, Civic Station, and other capital projects.
Development is projected to earn $9.3 million in developer fees from these projects.

Public Housing will serve 299 households in 8 public housing properties, with an expected occupancy of 98%.
Public Housing units continue to decline as they convert to voucher-based units through the RAD/Section 18
program.

Home Forward's Affordable Portfolio properties will serve 6,420 households, given the expected average
occupancy rate of 93%. Home Forward-owned affordable properties are expected to serve 2,735 families, tax
credit limited partnerships will serve 3,702 households, and master leased properties will serve 466 households.

In FY25, Home Forward opened a new HCV waitlist for the first time since FY23. Over 20,000 households
applied, and 3,000 were selected and placed on the waiting list.

Financial highlights of the upcoming budget include:

Annual operating revenues are projected to be $301.7 million, mainly due to the following:

$9.3 million in developer fee revenue from Gresham Civic Station ($5.2 million), Peaceful Villa Redevelopment
($3.8 million), and Goose Hollow ($300 thousand).

Public Housing Operating Subsidy revenue of $5.4 million, including $18 thousand in Asset Repositing Fees,
reflects an estimated proration of 80%.

HUD funding for Housing Choice Voucher revenue in the amount of $161.7 million includes a proration projection
of 90%.

Administrative fees of $14.0 million include HUD proration of 75%.
Annual operating expenses are projected to be $332.5 million, mainly due to the following:

Of the $332.5 million in expenses, $231 million represents rent assistance payments made directly to landlords
on behalf of Home Forward participants. Home Forward's operating expenses would be $102.8 million without
rent assistance payments.

Personnel expenses will be $48.4 million for the upcoming budget year.

Other administrative expenses will be $17.3 million, primarily due to investment of $3.2 million in Home Forward’s
information technology infrastructure, including activity related to additional development of Yardi Voyager,

Home Forward

Home Forward Board of Commissioners 24
December 2025



property management fees of $1.8 million, security patrol contracts for $1 million, and third-party payroll costs of
$6.6 million.

e Other tenant services expenses will be $8.1 million and include $1.7 million in relocation services for the
redevelopment of Peaceful Villa, $1.3 million related to the Congregate Housing Services Program (CHSP), $1.3
million in contract services for Fairfield, and $698 thousand for support services at Bud Clark Commons.

e Other maintenance expenses will be $9.9 million due to significant maintenance projects at multiple affordable
properties in FY26.

e Based on the impact of the above items, operating loss is projected to be $30.9 million.
e Investment income is expected to yield $1.3 million and $1.8 million in interest expense.
e Gain on sale of assets is expected to yield $2.7 million in proceeds.

e The combined impact yields a $28.0 million decrease in change to net position.

Impact on Funding Flow

As noted in the Budget Principles section, Home Forward presents its budget in a GAAP presentation and a funding
flow format. The standard expectation of the funding flow is that Home Forward programs (excluding development)
will break even for the fiscal year. Development activities will (at a minimum) break even throughout the life of its
various projects.

A funding flow summary by operating group is presented below:

Other
Operating Department —— Unrestricted R
| )i Capital and Reserve Cash f Additi Transfers In Net Fundi
Program Group feome apitalan Funding SSIRION HHOnS / (Out) to et Funding
(Loss) after Financing Flow Current to Reserves Funds Flow
Overhead Uses Adjustments Operations Current
Activities
Rent Assistance (17,267,123) - - - - (17,267,123) -
Public Housing Properties 2,446,981 264 - - - 2,447,245 -
Affordable Properties 269,797 (1,002,243) (407,980) - - (1,140,426) -
Asset Management (4,532,078) 2,700,000 - - - (1,832,078) -
Property Management (7,743,899) - - - - (7,743,899) -
Safety (746,815) - - - - (746,815) -
Integrated Facilities Services 614,068 - - - - 614,068 -
Community Services (6,102,121) - - - - (6,102,121) -
Other (278,363) 558,251 956,872 - - (8,335,388) -
Program Group Total (33,339,553) 2,256,272 548,892 - - (40,106,537) -
Development 2,512,914 4,272 - (7,293,069) - 12,089,333 -
Total Agency (30,826,639) 2,260,544 548,892 (7,293,069) - (28,017,204) -
Home Forward 4
Home Forward Board of Commissioners 25

December 2025



“Non-reserve funding flow adjustments” include add-backs for depreciation, offsets for allocated capital acquisitions
and certain debt payments, property-level reserves, and increases/decreases related to the timing of affordable
housing cash flows.

"Unrestricted Cash from Current Operations” reflects excess cash flow from the Affordable and Tax Credit properties
after the operating income and any applicable debt service.

“Reserve transfers in” to fund current activities reflect the inflow of reserve funds to cover the current year's expenses.
This activity translates to a reduction of agency reserves.

“Additions to reserves” reflect the transfer of remaining operating income into reserve accounts. Please note that the
bracketed number in this column does not represent an outflow of agency cash but rather an increase in agency
reserves.

Net reserves are dedicated to the following identified purposes:

e $16.9 million of collected development fee revenue is transferred to reserves and is used to cover department
operations and fund project costs that span multiple fiscal years.

Staffing Update

Home Forward staff provide services funded with agency resources (Home Forward legal entity) and resources from
other legal entities, such as several tax credit partnerships. The breakout by resources of the financing and the
change in budgeted full-time equivalents (FTEs) is:

Full-Time Equivalents (FTEs) by Funding Source

FY25 FY26 Increase /

Budget Budget (Decrease)
Agency Funded 322.8 299.9 (22.9)
Other Legal Entity Funded 54.7 53.1 (1.6)
Total Agency-Managed Positions 377.5 353.0 (24.5)

Numbers may be off slightly due to rounding.

In total, full-time equivalent employees have decreased by 24.5 FTE. While this budget reflects the FTEs of Home
Forward, it does not include Home Forward paying the financial impact of the 53.1 FTE, whose costs are reflected in
the Tax Credit Portfolio.

Home Forward 5
Home Forward Board of Commissioners 26
December 2025



Risks and Opportunities

As is the case every year, the level of Congressional appropriations determines federal funding. While this funding
has been volatile over the last five years, there is extreme uncertainty as to what level of investment the federal
government will continue to provide. Given the passage of several continuing resolutions and regular government
shutdowns, both of which impact Housing and Urban Development funding, combined with a lack of detailed
information from the Congressional Appropriations bill, we have had to develop a budget with estimates of most of its
major federal programs. The approach was used to base funding activity on preliminary congressional indicators and
historical trends, use program reserves as needed, and prepare to implement budget revisions as soon as more
accurate information is available.

For development projects, there is always the risk of construction delays. Still, we are confident in the historical
success of the Development team in monitoring and managing projects to mitigate this risk. Additionally, the
Development team monitors new funding opportunities and strategies for financing affordable housing.

In addition to funding volatility, there is the potential for a weather-related incident/natural disaster in any given year
that could affect most agency properties.

On behalf of our residents and program participants, Home Forward continues to seek opportunities to improve the
housing and service delivery systems. There is the potential for new program development and implementation in any
given year beyond the programs established with this budget.

Conclusion
For the Fiscal Year 2026, Home Forward will continue its efforts to transition from a traditional public housing platform

to a more responsive affordable housing platform. Lastly, Home Forward will maintain ongoing operations while
continuing foundational work to address historic and systemic racism.

Home Forward 6
Home Forward Board of Commissioners 27
December 2025



Operating Statement & Summary of Funding Flow

Home Forward
Fiscal Year 2026 Operating Statement

. Increase /

Operating Statement FY25 Budget FY26 Budget (Decrease)
Dwelling Rental 34,719,235 32,489,391 (2,229,844)
Non-Dwelling Rental 3,197,962 2,402,771 (795,191)
HUD Subsidies | Housing Assistance 157,672,666 161,677,705 4,005,039
HUD Subsidies | Admin Fee 16,252,806 14,015,715 (2,237,091)
HUD Subsidies | Public Housing 4,809,758 5,444,544 634,786
HUD Grants 10,185,284 11,206,139 1,020,855
Development Fee Revenue, Net 15,319,748 9,256,992 (6,062,756)
State, Local & Other Grants 38,705,703 46,506,211 7,800,508
Other Revenue 17,107,818 18,698,377 1,590,559
Total IA Revenue - - -
Total Operating Revenues 297,970,980 301,697,844 3,726,864
Housing Assistance Payments 199,355,978 229,700,976 (30,344,998)
Housing Assistance Payments | Federal 162,753,200 190,604,391 (27,851,191)
Housing Assistance Payments | Non-Federal 36,602,778 39,096,585 (2,493,807)
Administration 33,349,470 32,651,243 698,227
Administrative Personnel Expense 16,065,375 15,329,645 735,730
Other Admin Expenses 17,687,192 17,321,598 365,594
Tenant Services 10,959,553 15,054,237 (4,094,684)
Tenant Svcs Personnel Expense 6,167,323 6,937,819 (770,496)
Other Tenant Svcs Expenses 4,792,229 8,116,419 (3,324,190)
Program Expense 19,261,923 22,702,708 (3,440,785)
Program Personnel Expense 19,682,444 22,573,949 (2,891,505)
Other Program Expenses 52,060 128,759 (76,699)
Maintenance 11,409,435 13,440,666 (2,031,231)
Maintenance Personnel Expense 3,717,947 3,622,189 195,758
Other Maintenance Expenses 9,248,672 9,918,478 (669,806)
Fees/Overhead Charged 458,604 6,752 451,852
Utilities 6,556,957 6,449,587 107,370
Total IA Expense - - -
Depreciation 6,052,074 8,064,998 (2,012,924)
General 4,227,830 4,453,316 (225,486)
Total Operating Expenses 294,064,685 332,524,484 (38,459,799)
Operating Income (Loss) 3,906,294 (30,826,639) (34,732,933)
Operating Income (Loss) after Overhead 3,906,294 (30,826,639) (34,732,933)
Reserve Funding - - -
Operating Income (Loss) after Reserve Funding 3,906,294 (30,826,639) (34,732,933)
Investment Income 993,954 1,307,172 313,218
Interest Expense (1,924,671) (1,754,133) 170,538
Amortization (1,620) - 1,620
Gain (Loss) on Sale of Assets - 2,707,556 2,707,556
Change in Derivative Contract Value 50 (50) (100)
Net Other Income (Expense) (926,147) 2,260,544 3,186,691
Net Capital Contributions (12,225,151) 548,892 12,774,043
Change in Net Position 2,980,146 (28,017,204) (30,997,350)

Home Forward
Home Forward Board of Commissioners
December 2025

28



Home Forward
Fiscal Year 2026 Funding Flow

Funding Flow Analysis FY25 Budget FY26 Budget Increase / (Decrease)
Change in Net Position 2,980,146 (28,017,204) (30,997,350)

Funding Flow (2,980,146) - 2,980,146
Final Funding Source (or Shortfall) - (28,017,204) (28,017,204)

Home Forward
Fiscal Year 2026 Projected Cash Flow

Cash Flow Analysis FY25 Budget FY26 Budget Increase / (Decrease)
Projected Cash Needs (3,841,071) (5,407,863) 1,566,792
Projected Cash Flow 5,196,077 7,228,735 2,032,658
Net Cash to Home Forward 1,355,006 1,820,872 465,866

Projected Cash Needs and Projected Cash Flow include Affordable Housing, Public Housing, and Tax Credit
Properties.

Home Forward 8
Home Forward Board of Commissioners 29
December 2025



Line-ltem Analysis & Assumptions

Revenue

Dwelling Rental | $32.5 million

e Public Housing Portfolio will earn $1.0 million and continue to benefit from high occupancy rates, with an

estimated offset of $44 thousand for vacancies.

o Affordable Housing Portfolio will earn $31.5 million due to high occupancy rates, with estimated offsets of $2.5
million for vacancies and $172 thousand in rent concessions.

e There is a projected elimination of $5.4 million to reflect voucher holders living in our Affordable and Public

Housing properties.

Non-Dwelling Rental | $2.4 million

¢ Non-dwelling rental includes commercial rents, payments from special needs master-leased properties, land

lease revenue, cell tower revenue, and parking revenue.

HUD Subsidies - Housing Assistance | $161.7 million

e Due to expected continuing resolutions for a portion of the year, funding for Rent Assistance programs is

projected to include no funding increase and a projected proration level of 90%. Details by department and

program are provided below.

Department / Program

Affordable Portfolio
Local Blended Subsidy*

Development
Peaceful Villa

Rent Assistance
Emergency Housing Vouchers
FUP (includes FYI)
Mainstream
Portability (Port-Out)
Project-Based Vouchers
RAD
SRO/MOD

Stability Vouchers

FY25 Budget

1,464,924
1,464,924

156,207,742
4,806,876
4,639,027
2,948,220
1,888,200

33,663,999
25,758,174
286,562

405,141

FY26 Budget

1,459,228
1,459,228
1,691,760
1,691,760
158,526,717
7,249,550
5,660,104
3,376,740
2,842,800
38,525,160
29,364,457
286,562

1,164,768

Increase/
(Decrease)

-5,696
-5,696
1,691,760
1,691,760
2,487,975
2,442,674
921,077
428,520
954,600
4,861,161
3,606,282

759,627

Home Forward
Home Forward Board of Commissioners
December 2025

30



Increase/

Department / Program FY25 Budget FY26 Budget .
Tenant-Based Vouchers 70,220,116 60,008,260 (10,211,856)
VASH 11,591,427 10,148,316 (1,443,111)

Total 157,672,666 161,677,705 4,174,039

*Only represents Local Blended Subsidy (LBS) in Affordable Portfolio.
HUD Subsidies - Administrative Fees | $14.0 million

e Administrative Fees for HUD housing assistance are budgeted based on funding appropriations and assume a
75% proration for FY26.

HUD Subsidies - Public Housing | $5.4 million

e Funding includes $18 thousand in Asset Repositioning Fees (ARF). ARF represents a temporary revenue stream
(related to Section 18 conversions) to assist with converting Public Housing to Tenant Protection Vouchers.

e The budget assumes that the Operating Subsidy proration will be 80%, based on the current year’s actuals.

Development Fee Revenue | $9.3 million

e Accrued development fee revenue for the current year is projected for the following projects:

Accrued Developer
Project Fee Revenue

(in thousands)

Goose Hollow 317
Gresham Civic Station 5,190
Peaceful Villa Redevelopment 3,750
Total $9,257

State, Local & Other Grants | $46.5 million

FY25 Budget FY26 Budget Increase/

(in thousands) (in thousands) (Decrease)

Short-Term Rent Assistance

Multnomah County 9,241 6,769 (2,471)
Homeless Family System of Care 5,564 5,725 161
PILOT Revenue 310 200 (110)
Short-Term Rent Assistance Total 15,115 12,694 (2,421)
Medicaid — CHSP 895 722 (174)
Home Forward 10
Home Forward Board of Commissioners 31

December 2025



FY25 Budget FY26 Budget Increase/

(in thousands) (in thousands) (Decrease)

Joint Office — Bud Clark Commons 2,332 2,364 33
Health Related Social Needs - 392 392
Metro - 3,236 3,236
Long Term Rent Assistance 20,344 25,897 5,554
Portland Clean Energy Fund - 1,153 1,153
Teen Collaborative Grant 20 47 27
Total 38,706 46,506 7,801

Other Revenue | $18.7 million

FY25 Budget FY26 Budget Increase/

Other Revenue
S (in thousands) (in thousands) (Decrease)

Portability Revenue 10,719 12,701 1,983
Integrated Facilities Services Fees 2,141 1,518 (623)
Property-Related Income - Community Services 456 1,404 948
Property-Related Income - Operations 937 758 (179)
Property-Related Income - Management & General Partner Fees 1,787 1,825 38

Home Forward Development Enterprises Contributions - - -

Other Revenue 1,015 380 (635)

Fraud and Bad Debt Recovery 54 113 59

Total 17,108 18,698 1,591
Expense

Housing Assistance Payments | $299.7 million

¢ Includes Housing Assistance payments for the MTW Vouchers, RAD/Section 18 conversions, FUP Program,
VASH program, Emergency Housing Vouchers, Single Room Occupancy (SRO) program, Shelter Plus Care, MIF
Initiatives, Long-Term Rent Assistance, Port-in vouchers, and vouchers for those housed in our Affordable
Portfolio.

Home Forward 11
Home Forward Board of Commissioners 32
December 2025



Personnel Expense | $48.4 million

Total full-time equivalents for agency-funded positions are budgeted to be 299.9. An additional 53.1 FTEs are
funded directly from tax credit limited partnerships, and the expenses associated with these staff members are
not included in this budget. Combined FTE is 353.0, a 24.5 FTE decrease from the FY25 budget. The expenses

below reflect only activity recorded for Home Forward properties.

Administrative Personnel Expense 16.1 15.3 (0.7)
Tenant Services Personnel Expense 6.2 6.9 0.8
Program Expense 19.7 22.6 2.9
Maintenance Personnel Expense 3.7 3.5 (0.2)
Total 45.6 48.4 2.7

e Anticipated compensation increases averaging 6% and higher PERS expenses of 33% are factored into the
personnel expense budget.

Other Administrative Expenses | $17.3 million

e The Affordable Housing portfolio's other administrative expenses include outside payroll expenses, management

fees, and security patrol contracts.

e The Administration operating group has budgeted expenses of $2.1 million due to software and licensing fees.

Expenses include several costs associated with the hybrid work model and other agency expenses.

Other Tenant Services Expenses | $8.1 million

e Tenant services expenses are projected to include $6.1 million in contracted resident services.

Other Program Expenses | $129 thousand

e Program expenses are projected to have $129 thousand in temporary help.

Other Maintenance Expenses | $9.9 million

e Public housing properties are expected to have $866 thousand in repairs and other maintenance activities.
e Affordable housing properties are expected to have $6.6 million in repairs and other maintenance activities.
e New Market West is projected to have $204 thousand planned repairs and ongoing maintenance.

Utilities | $6.5 million

e Sewer and water rates are projected to rise between 5% and 10%, while other rates continue to increase,
including electric rates ranging from 5% to 15% and natural gas increasing by 15%. Local waste haulers will
provide garbage and recycling services.

Home Forward
Home Forward Board of Commissioners 33
December 2025

12



Depreciation | $8.1 million

e Depreciation represents the non-cash write-down of the properties' physical assets and reflects the units
undergoing RAD/Section 18 and property conversions (listed in the Affordable Portfolio Commentary).

General | $4.5 million

e Insurance expenses will increase due to rising valuations and premium rates, and are projected to be $3.1 million.

e Based on historical debt, bad debt expense is projected to be $1.1 million.

Net Other Income (Expense)

Investment Income | $1.3 million

e Investment income is projected to increase based on higher interest rates than the prior year’s estimates and
could include a combination of 30, 60, or 90-day US Treasury bonds as well as accounts held within Oregon’s

Local Investment Pool.

Interest Expense | $1.8 million

Madrona Place Apartments
Fenwick Apartments
Dawson Park

Kelly Place

Yards at Union Station
Rockwood Landing
Sequoia Square

Pearl Court

Hamilton West

Gretchen Kafoury Commons
St Francis

Ainsworth Court

Fairview Oaks & Woods
Rockwood Station

Ash Creek

Willow Tree

Lovejoy Station

43.0
62.0
6.0
3.0
72.0
5.0
43.0
22.0
112.0
202.0
115.0
64.0
273.0
110.0
82.0
16.0

197.0

Home Forward

Home Forward Board of Commissioners

December 2025

34

13



Property

The Alexis

Haven

North Interstate Crossing
Schiller Way

New Market West
Special Needs Properties

Total

FY26 Budget
(in thousands)

130.0
24.0
10.0

2.0

155.0

5.0

1,753.0

Home Forward

Home Forward Board of Commissioners

December 2025

35

14



Operating and Administrative Segment Review

Home Forward

Fiscal Year 2026 Operating Statement by Operating Group

Public Home
Rent Housing Affordable Asset Property Integrated Community Real Estate Forward

Operating Statement Assistance Portfolio Portfolio lanagement Management Safety Facilities Development Services  Administration Finance Reserves MIE Elimination Total
Dwelling Rental § -8 997,225 § 31492166 § -5 -3 - -3 -5 -5 -5 -5 -3 $ (7.386.318) § 32489391
Non-Dwelling Rental - 76,609 1,482,371 - - - - - 181,500 - 662,291 - - 2402,7M
HUD Subsidies | Housing Assistance 158,357,717 - 1,459,228 - 169,000 - - 1,691,760 - - - 161,677,705
HUD Subsidies | Admin Fee 13,460,800 - - - 554 915 - - - - - - 14,015,715
HUD Subsidies | Public Housing - 5,236,378 - - - - - 208,166 - - 5,444 544
HUD Grants 9403244 - - 235,035 - - - 1,567,859 - - 11,206,139
Development Fee Revenue, Net - - - - - - 9,256,992 - - - 9,256,992
State, Local & Other Grants 38,591,672 - - - - - 1,153,299 46538 6,714,701 - - - 46,506,211
Other Revenue 12,801,360 13.261 758,880 - 1,824,846 - 1,517,808 - 1,782,223 - - (380,676) 18,698,377
Total IA Revenue - - - - - - - - 1,071,845 - - (1.071,845) -
Total Operating Revenues 232,614,793 6,323,473 35,192,645 - 2,783,796 - 2,671,107 10,995,290 11,526,295 - 662,291 (8,838,839) 301,697,844
Housing Assistance Payments 229,676,899 19277 4,800 - - - - - - - - (5,586,249) 229,700 976
Housing Assistance Payments | Federal 190,580,314 19,277 4,800 - - - - - - - (5,586,249) 190,604,391
Housing Assistance Payments | Non-Federal 39,096,585 - - - - - - - - - - - - 39,096,585
Administration 1,704,394 376,811 7,894,827 969,171 1,240,257 526,558 327,734 1,446,030 865,877 16,376,096 - 923 489 (369.588) 32,651,243
Administrative Personnel Expense 930,116 - - 911,574 1,031,910 430,872 182,140 1,123,583 630,685 10,088,765 - - - 15,329,645
Other Admin Expenses 774,277 376,811 7,894,827 57,598 208,347 95,686 145,594 322,447 235,191 6,287,331 - 923,489 (369,588) 17,321,598
Tenant Senvices 135,905 4,800 115,472 - - - - 2,007,119 12,689,941 101,000 - - - 15,054,237
Tenant Sves Personnel Expense - - - - - - 315,359 6,622,459 - - 6,937,819
Other Tenant Sves Expenses 135,905 4,800 115,472 - - - - 1,691,760 6,067,482 101,000 - 8,116,419
Program Expense 13,138,084 524 411 906,474 987,723 2,892 261 - 367,666 2,358,988 1,084,239 431,861 - 22,702,708
Program Persennel Expense 13,138,084 501,504 800,622 987,723 2,892,261 - 367,666 2,359,988 1,094,239 431,861 - 22,573,949
Other Program Expenses - 22,907 105,852 - - - - - - - - 128,759
Maintenance - 1,523,582 9,324 513 - 1,295,778 99,112 793,455 - - 404,227 - 13,440,666
Maintenance Personnel Expense - 620,079 FO7, 347 - 1,338,554 78,352 699,505 - - 78,352 - 3,522,189
Other Maintenance Expenses - 903,503 - (42,776) 20,760 93,950 - - 325,875 - 9,918 478
Fees/Overhead Charged - - - - 3.252 - 3.500 - - - - 6,752
Utilities - 755,075 5,603,012 - - - - - - 91,500 - - 6.449 587
Total IA Expense - 121,812 643,807 - - - - 294321 - - (1,059,940) -
Depreciation - 256,273 7,275,460 - - - - 1,060 - 382,274 149,932 42.791) 8.064,998
General 170,315 294 451 3.154 483 - 301.591 36,832 101,919 25125 76.928 280,847 10.825 - - 4.453 316
Total Operating Expenses 244,825,596 3,876,492 34,922,848 1,956,894 5,733,140 662,501 1,594,274 5,839,322 15,021,306 18,067,805 160,757 923,489 (7,058,568) 332,524,484
Operating Income (Loss) (12,210,803) 2,446,981 269,797 (1.956,894) (2,949,344) (662,501) 1,076,833 5,155,968 (3.495,012)  (18,067,805) 501,534 (923,489) (1,780,272)  (30,826,639)
Total Overhead Allocations 5,056,320 - - 2,575,184 4,794,555 84,314 462,766 2,643,054 2,607,110 (18,223,302) - - - -
Operating Income (L oss) after Overhead (17,267,123) 2,446,981 269,797 (4,532,078) (7.743.899) (746,815) 614,068 2,512,914 (6,102,121) 155,497 501,534 (923,489) (1,780,272)  (30,826,639)
Reserve Funding - - - - - - - 9,572,147 - - (9,572,147) - -
Operating Income (Loss) after Reserve Funding (17,267,123) 2,446,981 269,797 (4,532,078) (7.743,899) (746,815) 614,068 12,085,061 (6,102,121) 155,497 501,534 (10,495,636) (1,780,272)  (30,826,639)
Investment Income - 264 538,888 - - - - 4,272 - - 713748 - 1,307,172
Interest Expense - - (1,598,636) - - - - - (155,497) - (1.754,133)
Amortization - - - - - - - - - - -
Investment in Partnership Valuation Charge - - - - - - - - - - -
Gain (Loss) on Sale of Assets - - 7.556 2,700,000 - - - - - - 2,707 556
Change in Derivative Contract Value - - (50) - - - - - - - (50)
Net Other Income (Expense) - 264 (1,002,243) 2,700,000 - - 4,272 - (155,497) 713,748 2,260,544
HUD Monoperating Contributions - - (625,000) - - - - - - 956,872 331872
Other Nonoperating Contributions - - 217,020 - - - - - - - 217,020
ARRA Nonoperating Contributions - - - - - - - - - - - -
Reserve Funded Capital Contributions - - - - - - - - (3.217.800) 3.217.800 -
Met Capital Contributions Transferred - - - - - - - - - - - -
Net Capital Contributions - - (407,980) - - - - - - (2,260,928) 3,217,800 548,892
Other Equity Changes - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Change In Net Position $ (17,267,123) § 2.447,245 § (1,140,426) § (1.832,078) § (7.743.899) § (746,815) § 614,068 $ 12,089,333 § (6,102,121) § - § (1,045,646) $ (7.277,836) § $ (1,780,272) § (28,017,203)

*See attachments for a larger version of this table. Numbers may vary slightly due to rounding.

Home Forward

Home Forward Board of Commissioners

December 2025

15
36



Operating Group

Home Forward
Fiscal Year 2026 Full-Time Equivalent Changes by Operating Group

FY25 Budgeted FTE

FY25 Budgeted FTE

FTE Changes

Rent Assistance 104.0 102.0 (2.0)
Public Housing Portfolio 9.6 9.6 -
Affordable Portfolio 6.7 8.6 1.8
Asset Management 11.6 10.1 (1.5)
Property Management 33.8 32.0 (1.8)
Safety 2.5 2.8 0.4
Integrated Facilities 17.7 8.2 (9.5)
Development 23.3 19.3 (4.0)
Community Services 55.9 54.5 (1.4)
Administration 57.9 52.9 (5.0)
Agency Funded 322.8 299.9 (22.9)
Limited Partnerships 54.7 53.1 (1.6)
Agency Managed 377.5 353.0 (24.5)

Home Forward
Home Forward Board of Commissioners
December 2025

37

16



Budget Commentary — Rent Assistance

Summary Budget Data FY25 Budget FY26 Budget (::;l::f:::é)
Operating Revenue 226,150,575 232,614,793 6,464,218
Operating Expense 213,864,689 244,825,596 30,960,907
Operating Income Before OH 12,285,886 (12,210,803) (24,496,689)
Allocated Overhead 4,811,274 5,056,320 245,046
Operating Income After OH 7,474,612 (17,267,123) (24,741,735)
Funding Flow Activity (9,899,572) 15,097,199 24,996,771
Z;gﬂ?f;?sﬁ:;d or (Contributed) for Current (9,899,572) 15,097,199 24,996,771
Total Budgeted FTE 104.0 102.0 (2.0)

Rent Assistance Key Assumptions

Housing Assistance Payments for the Agency are projected to be $229.7 million, a $30.4 million increase from last
year’s projections due to an increase in per-unit costs, updates to leasing and attrition estimates, and growth in the
Long-Term Rent Assistance program. $2.2 million in housing assistance payments are related to Local Blended
Subsidy payments to Home Forward consolidated properties. HAP expenses are broken down by individual program
in the table below. Homeless Initiatives include Short-Term Rent Assistance (STRA) and Shelter Plus Care (SPC).

Average

Program Cost/Expenses Ho;seholds Avera%-;o\slfucher E?(:::r::z:
erved
MTW Vouchers 7,904 1,022.05 96,939,711
Long-Term Rent Assistance 1,448 1,495.23 25,981,110
Homeless Initiatives 1,592 1,139.09 21,761,244
RAD 1,188 1,055.18 15,042,585
VASH 911 1,408.49 15,397,582
Section 18 TPV RAD 625 1,673.57 12,551,752
Portability (Port-In) 716 1,386.80 11,915,364
FUP 381 1,627.08 7,439,028
Emergency Housing Vouchers 390 1,543.86 7,225,271
SRO/MOD RAD 457 918.40 5,036,529
Mainstream 203 1,560.34 3,800,990
Portability (Port-Out) 178 1,330.90 2,842,800
Home Forward 17
Home Forward Board of Commissioners 38

December 2025



LBS 284 641.12 2,184,924

Stability Vouchers 64 1,496.83 1,149,568
SRO/MOD 44 542.73 286,562
MTW Funded Rent Assistance N/A N/A 86,878
Flexible Rent Assistance N/A N/A 35,000
Total HAP Expense 16,385 229,676,899

Administrative fees for administering vouchers are $13.5 million, representing a $2.1 million decrease from last year,
impacted by admin fee proration.

Rent Assistance Major Programs/Initiatives/Activities and Estimated Budget Impact

Personnel expenses of $14.0 million in FY26 represent a $1.0 million increase from the prior year.
Total Housing Choice Vouchers | $171.3 million

e The Housing Choice Voucher (HCV) program is the federal government’s major program for assisting very low-
income families, seniors, and people with disabilities to afford decent, safe, and sanitary housing in the private
market. Since housing assistance is provided on the family's or individual's behalf, participants search for housing
in the private market, including single-family homes, townhouses, and apartments. Home Forward administers
several distinct HCV programs:

e Moving to Work (MTW) Vouchers | $96.9 million
Home Forward will utilize 7,904 Moving to Work Vouchers.

Home Forward opened the Housing Choice Voucher waitlist during the fiscal year 2025. During fiscal
year 2025, Home Forward was notified of a shortfall status for our Moving to Work Voucher program by
HUD in July. As a result of being in a shortfall status, Home Forward had to pause vouchers to new
families selected from the waitlist. Home Forward anticipates a utilization of 94.2% for the FY26 year.

Tenant-based attrition (vouchers returned) is projected to be 8 vouchers monthly.
e VASH | $15.4 million

Home Forward will utilize 911 VASH Vouchers in partnership with the Department of Veterans Affairs.
Utilization of these vouchers is anticipated to be 87.2%. $14.0 million in VASH program expense is a $3.0
million increase from the prior year due to increased utilization and per-unit costs.

Home Forward 18
Home Forward Board of Commissioners 39
December 2025



RAD | $15.0 million

Home Forward will utilize 1,188 Rental Assistance Demonstration (RAD) vouchers — prior Public Housing
buildings that converted to a Project-Based Voucher subsidy under the HCV program. Converting
buildings and units into an HCV subsidy allows the units to receive an HCV admin fee and converts the
subsidy to fall under the HCV program.

Section 18 TPV RAD | $12.6 million

Home Forward will utilize 625 Section 18 tenant protection vouchers (TPV) — former Public Housing
buildings converted under RAD. Converting Public Housing buildings to a tenant protection subsidy
allows the units to receive an HCV admin fee and converts the subsidy to fall under the HCV program.
Section 18 conversions also allow for the receipt of Asset Repositioning Fees (ARF).

RAD Section 18 conversions have a budget impact of $12.6 million, a $7.7 million increase from the prior
year, due to increased housing assistance payments.

Portability (Port-In) | $11.9 million

Portability, a significant component of the Housing Choice Voucher program, allows voucher holders to
move to other areas where Public Housing Agencies operate an HCV program. There are two types of
portability: port-in, where a household moves to Home Forward’s jurisdiction, and port-out, where a Home
Forward participant moves to another PHA'’s jurisdiction.

Under port-in regulations, Home Forward is defined as the receiving housing authority and receives
households from the initial housing authority. The receiving housing authority can bill expenses, both
housing assistance payments and a prorated administrative fee, to the initial housing authority.

Home Forward anticipates administering 6 new monthly port-in vouchers in FY26 for an average of 716
vouchers. Home Forward exercises portability billing and receives reimbursement for HAP and admin fee
expenses from the initial housing authority for port-in vouchers.

FUP | $7.4 million

Home Forward will utilize 381 FUP Vouchers and 150 FY| Vouchers. Utilization of these vouchers is
anticipated to be 93.2% and 67.6%, respectively, as vouchers continue to be leased with little turnover.
$7.4 million in FUP program expense is a $2.0 million increase from the prior year due to increased
utilization and per-unit costs.

Emergency Housing Vouchers | $7.2 million

Home Forward will utilize 390 Emergency Housing Vouchers. Originally expected to continue until 2030,
Congress did not renew Emergency Housing Vouchers, and the program will end in 2026. Home Forward
will work to transition EHV households into a permanent subsidy during FY26.

SRO/MOD RAD | $5.0 million

Home Forward will utilize 457 RAD vouchers converted from former single-room occupancy/moderate
rehabilitation (SRO/MOD) properties owned by community service providers. The property’s conversion
allows the units to continue receiving the HCV admin fee. It converts the subsidy from funding under the
McKinney-Vento Homeless Assistance Act to a Project-Based subsidy.

Home Forward 19

Home Forward Board of Commissioners 40
December 2025



The $5.0 million in program expense for this subset of RAD conversions is unchanged from the prior
year.

Mainstream | $3.8 million

Home Forward will utilize 203 Mainstream Vouchers; utilization of these projected vouchers is projected
to be 88.6%.

The $3.8 million in program expenses is a $21 thousand increase from the prior year.

Portability (Port-Out) | $2.8 million

Portability, a significant component of the Housing Choice Voucher program, allows voucher holders to
move to other areas where Public Housing Agencies operate an HCV program. There are two types of
portability: port-in, where a household moves to Home Forward’s jurisdiction, and port-out, where a Home
Forward participant moves to another PHA'’s jurisdiction.

Under port-out regulations, Home Forward is defined as the initial housing authority, and households
lease under the administration of the receiving housing authority. The receiving housing authority can bill
expenses, both housing assistance payments and a prorated administrative fee, back to Home Forward.

Port-out vouchers are projected to average 178, with little change in new port-outs each month. Most
receiving housing authorities chose to bill Home Forward for vouchers leased in their jurisdiction under
portability.

Stability Vouchers | $1.1 million

Home Forward will utilize 64 Stability Vouchers; utilization of these projected vouchers is projected to be
82.6%.

The $1.1 million in program expenses is a $744 thousand increase from the prior year.

SRO/MOD | $287 thousand

Coordinated under the Continuum of Care (CoC) Program, the SRO/MOD provides rental assistance in
connection with the moderate rehabilitation of residential properties that contain upgraded single
occupancy units for individuals who are homeless. The program is designed to move people into the
permanent housing phase within the Continuum of Care.

Home Forward will utilize 44 SRO/MOD units that have not been converted under RAD.

Long Term Rent Assistance | $26.0 million

Home Forward administers a long-term rental assistance program, known as Regional Long-Term Rent
Assistance (RLRA). Multnomah County funds the RLRA program through the Homeless Services Department
(formerly Joint Office of Homeless Services). Serving over 1,400 households, the RLRA program provides similar
rental assistance as the HCV program, with local flexibility and a regional focus.

The $26.0 million in program expenses is a $5.6 million increase from the prior year.

Homeless Initiatives | $21.3 million

In addition to federally funded HCV, Home Forward receives grant funding and collaborates with community
service providers to offer Short-Term Rent Assistance (STRA). Serving approximately 500 households per month,

Home Forward 20

Home Forward Board of Commissioners 41
December 2025



STRA provides limited housing assistance to families in Multhomah County who are experiencing homelessness
or are at risk of homelessness. Home Forward also manages Shelter Plus Care grants, serving approximately
495 households per month. Shelter Plus Care provides rental assistance and supportive services to people with
disabilities who are experiencing homelessness.

The $21.3 million in program expenses is a $1.9 million decrease from the prior year.

Moving to Work (MTW) Initiatives | $3.7 million

As a Moving to Work agency, Home Forward has the flexibility to operate various local programs to provide
additional housing and services that align with our strategic plan. MTW Initiatives include Local Blended Subsidy:

Local Blended Subsidy (LBS) | $2.2 million

LBS enhances funding for certain MTW Section 8 and RAD properties to subsidize units reserved for
families earning 80% or below the area median income. These units may be new construction,
rehabilitated, or existing housing. LBS has been utilized for 284 units at three properties, including 130 at
Bud Clark Commons, 45 at Madrona Place, and 109 at Stephens Creek Crossing (64 at Stephens Creek
North and 45 at Stephens Creek South).

Flexible Rent Assistance | $37 thousand

Flexible rent assistance helps participants with various barriers to housing, including applications, bad
debt, security deposits, expungement fees, and other financial assistance to aid the leasing process.
Flexible rent assistance is paired with a Housing Search Advocates program that works with participants
to: 1) develop individualized housing search plans which include addressing any housing barriers such as
past evictions or bad credit; 2) meet directly with landlords and applicants/participants to navigate the
application and leasing process, including filing appeals of denials and accommodations for special
needs; 3) stay informed of the available housing inventory and maintain strong landlord relationships; and
4) help support households in understanding Home Forward's rules and processes.

The remaining MTW activity can be found in the Moving to Work Initiative Schedule in the attachments section of
this report. Additional MTW expenses to support services and safety may be funded under Home Forward's
approved single-fund flexibility and 2026 MTW Plan.

Home Forward 21

Home Forward Board of Commissioners 42
December 2025



Budget Commentary — Public Housing Portfolio

Summary Budget Data FY25 Budget FY26 Budget (::;]::f:::;)
Operating Revenue 5,776,720 6,323,473 546,753
Operating Expense 3,325,428 3,876,492 551,064
Operating Income Before OH 2,451,292 2,446,981 (4,311)
Allocated Overhead - - -
Operating Income After OH 2,451,292 2,446,981 (4,311)
Funding Flow Activity (2,524,432) (2,774,942) (250,510)
Z;gﬂ?f;?sﬁ:;esd or (Contributed) for Current (2,524,432) (2,774,942) (250,510)
Total Budgeted FTE 9.6 9.6 -

The Public Housing Portfolio includes the budget activity for 8 traditional public housing properties and 9.6 property-
level staff. Home Forward's public housing stock provides an essential resource to the community by providing
housing in 299 rentable units throughout Multnomah County. The unit count in Public Housing continues to decline as
properties are converted to RAD and Section 18 funding. Property staff focus on the management and maintenance
of the properties and work towards preserving the aging housing stock.

In FY26, staff will continue to integrate maintenance, property management, inspections, and services to improve
efficiency and reduce turnover time.

Public Housing Key Assumptions

Public Housing Portfolio Operating Subsidy Assumptions

Physical Units in Public Housing Portfolio* 299 299
Subsidized Units in Public Housing Portfolio 299 299
Eligibility per Unit Per Month** $1,554 $1,961
Eligibility per Unit per Month (Excluding ARF) 1,542 1,956
Proration 90% 80%
Proration per Unit per Month*** $1,282 $1,459
Total Subsidy $4,601,592 $5,236,378

*As of January 1%, of the respective year.

**Eligibility provided by HUD: calculated as Total Non-Utility Operating Subsidy + RAD Adjustment Factor + Utilities Expense Level (UEL)

***Less Carve-outs for PILOT, GOALS, and Asset Reposition Fee (ARF).

There are no expected RAD or Section 18 conversions in FY26; households served — occupancy is assumed at 98%.

Home Forward
Home Forward Board of Commissioners
December 2025

22
43



Staff in public housing include property managers, assistant property managers, and maintenance staff.

Public Housing Major Revenue and Expense Iltems

Operating Revenue is $6.3 million, up $547 thousand from FY25.

Dwelling Rental is $997 thousand, a decrease of $76 thousand, due to a reduction in rent and occupancy.
HUD Subsidies for public housing are $5.2 million, an increase of $635 thousand.

Non-dwelling rental is $77 thousand from commercial rental income, a decrease of $6 thousand in commercial
space rental.

Other revenue from laundry and other fees is $13 thousand, a decrease of $6 thousand.

Operating Expenses are $3.9 million, up $551 thousand from FY25. The primary drivers of Operating Expenses are:

Housing Assistance Payments of $19 thousand, a decrease of $16 thousand. This budget item is for utility
reimbursement payments to residents at properties that pay for their own utilities. The decrease is the result of
properties shifting to direct payment of utilities.

Other Admin Expenses is $377 thousand, for property management fees charged by the Property Management
department, an increase of $22 thousand.

Maintenance is $1.5 million, up $189 thousand. Maintenance includes $620 thousand in Maintenance Personnel
Expenses and $904 thousand in Other Maintenance Expenses.

Program Expense is $524 thousand, an increase of $52 thousand. Program expense covers personnel expenses
and temporary help at properties.

Tenant Services, combined with Total IA Expense, are $127 thousand, an increase of $10 thousand for
community services at properties.

Utilities are $755 thousand, an increase of $22 thousand.
Depreciation is $256 thousand, a 100% increase due to moving from the affordable and tax credit portfolios.
General expenses of $294 thousand in insurance, an increase of $17 thousand.

All personnel expenses include planned compensation increases.

Agency Overhead is charged through Property Management and is allocated to the Public Housing Portfolio through
the property management fee.

Public Housing Funding Required for Current Agency Activities

The Public Housing Portfolio provides $2.8 million in projected cash flow for agency and property needs.

Home Forward 23

Home Forward Board of Commissioners 44
December 2025



Operating Revenue 37,816,271 35,192,645 (2,623,626)

Operating Expense 32,909,898 34,922,848 2,012,950

Operating Income Before OH 4,906,373 269,797 (4,636,576)

Allocated Overhead = - -

Operating Income After OH 4,906,373 269,797 (4,636,576)
Funding Flow Activity (7,900,718) (8,955,813) (1,055,095)
Funding Re'qy!red or (Contributed) for Current (7,973,023) (8,955,813) (982,790)
Agency Activities

Total Budgeted FTE 6.7 8.6 1.8

The Affordable Housing Portfolio comprises 99 properties with 6,903 units throughout Multnomah County, owned by
Home Forward and financed by private debt, public debt, and tax credit funding. The portfolio consists of non-public
housing properties owned directly by Home Forward and properties leased with local service providers. Home
Forward property management staff manages 8 of the affordable properties, with the remainder managed by third-
party property management companies.

For the externally managed properties, $6.6 million in personnel expenses are on the Home Forward financials, but
the FTE is not included in the Home Forward headcount.

Affordable Housing has two new properties in the portfolio in 2026.

e Goose Hollow, a market-rate apartment rental community built in 2018 in SW Portland’s historic Goose Hollow
neighborhood, was purchased in May of 2025 with the support of Metro Bond Funds. The 61-unit, 6-story
apartments will offer modern, open-concept studio, 1-, and 2-bedroom units.

e The Cesar Apartments, located near SE Hawthorne Blvd. and Cesar Chavez Blvd, was acquired with a plan to
convert to Permanent Supportive Housing (PSH) for individuals exiting chronic homelessness. The Cesar offers
47 units ranging from studios to two-bedroom apartments.

The Affordable Housing Portfolio contributes revenue to the Agency through cash flow from mature properties. The
major challenge for the Affordable Housing Portfolio in the upcoming year is balancing the Agency's need for cash
flow while completing much-needed capital improvements at several aging sites. Vacancy, rent collection, rising
insurance costs, and continuing inflation will be other issues in the upcoming fiscal year.

Affordable Housing Key Assumptions

The average budgeted occupancy is 93%, consistent with actual property performance.

Peaceful Villa underwent RAD conversion in late FY24 and will not be budgeted for FY26. It will begin lease-up and
occupancy in late 2026.

Home Forward 24
Home Forward Board of Commissioners 45
December 2025



Affordable Housing Major Programs/Initiatives/Activities and Estimated Budget Impact

Enhanced security projects at properties, including courtesy patrols and cameras, are budgeted for $907 thousand.
$78 thousand budget for pest control extermination projects.

Capital projects, such as roof replacements, window replacements, and capital projects, are several smaller
properties.

Affordable Housing Major Revenue and Expense Items

Operating Revenues are budgeted to be $35.2 million, a $2.6 million decrease from FY25, primarily driven by:

e Dwelling Rental is projected to be $31.5 million, a decrease of $2.2 million due to lower rent and higher vacancy

at most properties.
Operating Expenses are projected to be $34.9 million, a $2.0 million increase from the prior budget year.

e Utilities are projected to be $5.6 million, a decrease of $129 thousand from the previous budget.

Depreciation increases by $1.3 million to $7.3 million.
e Management fees for third-party-managed properties are expected to be $1.3 million, flat from FY25.

e Other Administrative expenses are $7.9 million, an increase of $125 thousand. Third-party-managed properties
have budgeted $5.3 million in payroll expenses.

e Home Forward labor expenses are $1.5 million, an increase of $390 thousand from FY25, mostly in program
expense from increased staffing for lease up and management of new properties.

Home Forward
Home Forward Board of Commissioners 46
December 2025

25



Budget Commentary — Asset Management

Summary Budget Data FY25 Budget FY26 Budget (::;]::f:::é)
Operating Revenue - - -
Operating Expense 2,105,062 1,956,894 (148,168)
Operating Income Before OH (2,105,062) (1,956,894) 148,168
Allocated Overhead 2,493,469 2,575,184 81,715
Operating Income After OH (4,598,530) (4,532,078) 66,452
Funding Flow Activity 4,598,530 4,532,078 (66,452)
;;gﬂglf;?sﬁ:;esd or (Contributed) for Current 4,508 530 4532078 (66,452)
Total Budgeted FTE 11.6 10.1 (1.5)

The Asset Management group is responsible for overseeing the performance of the entire Home Forward portfolio

with the following breakdown.

P()Tr;:;)(:io Properties
Public Housing 16 299
Leased 28 466
Affordable 28 2,735
Tax Credit 43 3,702
Total 115 7,202

Asset Management Key Assumptions

The Asset Management group also provides asset management services to properties owned by jurisdictional

partners.

Asset Management Funding Required for Current Agency Activities

The Asset Management department will require $4.5 million to fund all planned operations fully.

Home Forward
Home Forward Board of Commissioners
December 2025

47

26



Budget Commentary — Property Management

Summary Budget Data FY25 Budget FY26 Budget (:::::::;)
Operating Revenue 3,008,358 2,783,796 (224,562)
Operating Expense 5,120,864 5,733,140 612,276
Operating Income Before OH (2,112,506) (2,949,344) (836,838)
Allocated Overhead 4,573,204 4,794,555 221,351
Operating Income After OH (6,685,710) (7,743,899) (1,058,189)
Funding Flow Activity 6,685,710 7,743,899 1,058,189
Z;gﬂ?f;?sﬁ:;esd or (Contributed) for Current 6,685,710 7.743.899 1,058,189
Total Budgeted FTE 33.8 32.0 (1.8)

Property Management is the service department for Home Forward's self-managed properties. The Property
Management group oversees the compliance and maintenance at 47 properties. These properties provide housing for
2,698 households and reflect the RAD/Section 18 conversions.

Public Housing 8
Service Provider and Commercial Leased 3
Tax Credit Limited Partnership 32
Affordable 4
Total Properties Managed 47

The operating activity for the tax credit properties is reported outside of the Property Management budget, but their
associated overhead costs are included in this department. The 32.0 FTE captured in this Property Management
budget includes management, compliance, and centralized maintenance staff.

Property Management Major Programs/Initiatives/Activities and Estimated Budget Impact

Property Management will support the remaining public housing properties pending future RAD/Section 18 application
conversions. Eight properties are remaining public housing properties that will undergo conversion in the coming
years; however, there are no expected conversions for FY26.

A new property, The Cesar Apartments, began pre-leasing in the fall of 2025 and expects to be fully leased by May of
2026. This property adds 47 units in Southeast Portland.

Madrona apartments stopped leasing units in 2025 in anticipation of rehab work on the property.

Home Forward 27
Home Forward Board of Commissioners 48
December 2025



T. Joyce Philps (formerly Dekum Court) completed construction and will begin lease-up in 2026. In addition to the
original 40 units, this property will add 140 units to the Home Forward portfolio.

Peaceful Villa Apartments remains offline and under construction in 2026.
Property Management Major Revenue and Expense Iltems

Operating Revenue is $2.8 million, down $225 thousand from FY25. The significant contributors to Operating
Revenue are:

e HUD Subsidies of $169 thousand, which fund the Payment in Lieu of Taxes (PILOT).

e Other Revenue of $1.8 million includes property management fees, which are charged to properties instead of
overhead. Property Management fees have increased by $38 thousand.

e HUD Subsidies are $555 thousand from the Rent Assistance department, down $96 thousand. The administrative

fee is earned on RAD conversions and will provide compliance with tax credit reviews.
e HUD Grants are $235 thousand from the Capital Fund Program grant, a decrease of $167 thousand.

Operating Expense is $5.7 million, an increase of $612 thousand from FY25. The significant drivers of Operating
Expenses are:

e Administration Expenses are $1.2 million, a decrease of $270 thousand from FY25.
e $1.0 million is in Administrative Personnel Expenses, no change from the prior year.
e $208 thousand is in Other Admin Expenses, a decrease of $269 thousand.

e Program Expense is $2.9 million, which covers personnel expenses and temporary help. This amount is $441
thousand higher than FY25.

e Maintenance Expenses are $1.3 million, primarily in Maintenance Personnel Expenses for floating and on-call
staff, an increase of $341 thousand.

e General Expenses are $302 thousand, comprised mainly of PILOT expenses.
Property Management Funding Required for Current Agency Activities

The Property Management Department requires $7.7 million to fund all planned operations fully, an increase of $1.1
million from FY25.

Home Forward
Home Forward Board of Commissioners 49
December 2025

28



Budget Commentary — Safety

Summary Budget Data FY25 Budget FY26 Budget (::::re:::é)
Operating Revenue - - -
Operating Expense 559,996 662,501 102,505
Operating Income Before OH (559,996) (662,501) (102,505)
Allocated Overhead 65,033 84,314 19,281
Operating Income After OH (625,029) (746,815) (121,786)
Funding Flow Activity 625,029 746,815 121,786
Z;gﬂg\f;?sﬁ:;esd or (Contributed) for Current 625,029 746,815 121,786
Total Budgeted FTE 2.5 2.8 0.4

The Safety Department coordinates Home Forward’s property and staff safety awareness and training, implements
new safety initiatives, and oversees the Agency’s safety committee. The overarching objective is to utilize a proactive
approach to reducing losses, providing safe and comfortable homes for residents, and a secure and inviting
workplace for employees. The Safety group identifies potential risks to properties and operations, develops strategies
to mitigate risks, and delivers safety and compliance training to Home Forward staff.

Safety Major Programs/Initiatives/Activities and Estimated Budget Impact
Staff will continue to conduct physical assessments of properties and make safety and training recommendations.
Safety Major Revenue and Expense Items

Safety has no revenue for FY26.

Operating Expenses are $663 thousand, an increase of $103 thousand from FY25. The primary drivers of Operating
Expenses are expected to be:

e $509 thousand in Personnel Expenses, an increase of $85 thousand.
e $95 thousand in Other Administrative Expenses, a decrease of $15 thousand.
e $21 thousand for Other Maintenance Expenses, a decrease of $2 thousand.

Safety Funding Required for Current Agency Activities

The Safety Department requires $747 thousand to fund all planned operations fully.

Home Forward 29
Home Forward Board of Commissioners 50
December 2025



Budget Commentary — Integrated Facilities Services and Sustainability

Summary Budget Data FY25 Budget FY26 Budget (:::::::;)
Operating Revenue 2,140,549 2,671,107 530,558
Operating Expense 2,456,713 1,594,274 (862,439)
Operating Income Before OH (316,165) 1,076,833 1,392,998
Allocated Overhead 687,201 462,766 (224,435)
Operating Income After OH (1,003,365) 614,068 1,617,433
Funding Flow Activity 1,003,365 (614,068) (1,617,433)
Z;re\?]?f;?sﬁ:;esd or (Contributed) for Current 1,003,365 (614,068) (1,617,433)
Total Budgeted FTE 17.7 8.2 (9.5)

Integrated Facilities Services and Sustainability is a significant contribution to Home Forward’s commitment to
sustainability and the strategic plan to address climate change. By focusing on sustainability, the aim is to reduce the
impact of extreme weather events on our community. The department also provides trades services, including
electrical work, plumbing, pest control, painting, and bulky waste hauling. Home Forward-managed properties utilize
Integrated Facilities Services and Sustainability based on need and are billed for services provided.

Integrated Facilities Services Major Programs/Initiatives/Activities and Estimated Budget Impact

Integrated Facilities Services and Sustainability (IFS) strives to operate as a self-sustaining business unit. Trades
billing on an hourly basis provides services at rates that are competitive with market rates.

e $1.2 million in grants for electric vehicles from Portland Community Engagement Funds (PCEF).
e $50 thousand initiative to improve building energy efficiency and sustainability.

e $25 thousand for projects in emergency management and emergency response.

e $75 thousand for needed pest control management at properties.

Integrated Facilities Services Major Revenue and Expense Items

Revenue is $2.7 million, an increase of $531 thousand from FY25.
e $1.5 million from IFS maintenance fees from Home Forward-managed properties.
e $1.2 million from PCEF grants to fund electric vehicle purchases.

Operating Expenses are $1.6 million, a decrease of $862 thousand from FY25. The significant drivers of Operating
Expenses are expected to be:

e Maintenance Personnel Expense is $700 thousand, a $759 thousand decrease.

Home Forward 30
Home Forward Board of Commissioners 51
December 2025



e Program Personnel Expenses in support of department administration are $368 thousand, a $105 thousand
decrease.

e Administrative Personnel Expense is $182 thousand, an increase of $109 thousand.
e All personnel expenses include planned compensation increases.

e Other Maintenance Expenses are $94 thousand and include materials and vehicle expenses, a $5 thousand
decrease.

Integrated Facilities Services Funding Required for Current Agency Activities

Integrated Facilities Services will contribute $615 thousand to the Agency in FY26.

Home Forward
Home Forward Board of Commissioners 52
December 2025

31



Budget Commentary — Development

Summary Budget Data FY25 Budget FY26 Budget (::;]::f:::é)
Operating Revenue 15,319,748 10,995,290 (4,324,458)
Operating Expense 4,541,054 5,839,322 1,298,268
Operating Income Before OH 10,778,694 5,155,968 (5,622,726)
Allocated Overhead 2,615,899 2,643,054 27,155
Operating Income After OH 8,162,795 2,512,914 (5,649,881)
Funding Flow Activity 1,937,590 4,779,095 2,841,505
;;gﬂglf;?sﬁ:;esd or (Contributed) for Current 1,937,590 4779095 2.841,505
Total Budgeted FTE 23.3 19.3 (4.0)

The Development department undertakes the development of new affordable rental housing, plus the acquisition and
rehabilitation of existing affordable housing properties. As part of its development and rehabilitation efforts,
Development is also responsible for structuring the financing that supports these construction activities. Relocation
services are provided as necessary in support of various development and rehabilitation projects. The department

earns Developer Fees to support current and future development activity costs.

e Active Projects: 9

e Active Projects Total Budget: $495.7 million

Development Key Assumptions

Development will receive $16.8 million in developer fee cash payments in FY26 and accrue developer revenue in the

amount of $9.3 million. Developer fees earned and accrued are for:

Developer Fees Accrued and Received FY26(amounts in millions)

Accrued
Project Project Budget Developer Fee

Revenue
Hazel Ying Lee 83.8 0.0
T. Joyce Philips 94.6 0.0
Fairfield PSH LP 31.6 0.0
Chaku Kumtuks Haws 51.6 0.0
Peaceful Villa Redevelopment 104 .1 3.8
York Terrace 54.0 0.0
Gresham Civic Station 45.5 5.2

Developer Fee
Cash to be

Received

2.6
7.2
0.8
3.3
1.0
1.6

0.0

Home Forward
Home Forward Board of Commissioners
December 2025

53

32



Developer Fees Accrued and Received FY26(amounts in millions)

Accrued Developer Fee
Project Project Budget Developer Fee Cash to be
Revenue Received
Cesar 15.3 0.0 0.2
Goose Hollow 15.2 0.3 0.1
Total $495.7 $9.3 $16.8

Development Major Programs/Initiatives/Activities and Estimated Budget Impact

T. Joyce Phillips (previously known as Dekum 2 LP) — This redevelopment project is divided into two phases.
Phase 1 is a mixed-use new construction of 47 housing units. The households occupying 40 public housing units
will move to the newly constructed property. Phase 2 is demolishing the existing property and building 141
housing units. This tax credit partnership utilizes four percent Low-Income Housing Tax Credits, Metro Housing
Bond Proceeds, and reserve funds. Construction finance closed in April 2022, and construction of Phase 1 began
in May 2022. Phase 1 of the project was completed in October 2023, and construction of Phase 2 started in
August 2023. Phase 2 of the project was completed in September 2025. The final installment of the developer fee
is estimated to be paid in September 2026.

T. Joyce Philips

S FY23 FY24 FY25 FY26 Total
(in millions)

Total Project Sources

and Uses $24.6 $29.1 $22.4 $10.6 $7.9 $94.6

Chaku Kumtuks Haws (previously known as PCC/Killingsworth Housing project) — Home Forward, working with
Portland Community College (PCC), formulated a development partnership in which Home Forward provides
development services in the construction of 84 affordable housing units. Home Forward is the developer, owner,
and General Partner of the Low-Income Housing Tax Credit partnership. PCC owns the land, and the tax credit
partnership will lease the land from PCC. This tax credit partnership utilizes four percent Low-Income Housing
Tax Credits, Metro Bond Proceeds, OHCS grant, Local Innovation and Fast Track (LIFT), and reserve funds.
Construction finance closed in February 2024, and construction began in March 2024. The project completion is
scheduled for April 2026.

Chaku Kumtuks Haws FY24 FY25 FY26

(in millions)

Total Project Sources and Uses $25.8 $18.5 $7.3 $51.6

Peaceful Villa Redevelopment — Peaceful Villa is one of the public housing properties included in the 85 Stories
Initiative. Built in 1948, the property sits on four acres of land with 70 homes. The redevelopment anticipates
increasing units from 70 to 166. The redeveloped Peaceful Villa forges a new partnership with the Immigrant and
Refugee Community Organization (IRCO) to deliver culturally specific services to immigrants. Home Forward will
serve as developer and owner as General Partner of the Low-Income Housing Tax Credit partnership. This tax
credit partnership will utilize four percent Low-Income Housing Credits, bond funds, OHCS grants, and reserve

Home Forward 33

Home Forward Board of Commissioners 54
December 2025



funds. Construction finance closed in February 2025, and construction began in April 2025. The project
completion is scheduled for January 2028.

Total Project Sources
and Uses

$21.7 $38.5 $30.1 $13.2 $104.1

York Terrace (previously known as Troutdale Housing project) - Home Forward and Multnomah County have
entered into an intergovernmental agreement (IGA) to transfer the 3.58-acre site to Home Forward. The site is at
SW 257th Avenue and East Historic Columbia River Street in Troutdale. This project will develop approximately
111 affordable housing units in Troutdale. Home Forward will serve as developer, owner, and General Partner of
the Low-Income Housing Tax Credit partnership. This tax credit partnership utilizes nine percent Low-Income
Housing Tax Credits, Metro Bond Proceeds, OHCS grants, HUD CFP grants, and reserve funds. Construction
finance closed in May 2024, and construction began in June 2024. The project completion is scheduled for
January 2027.

Total Project Sources
and Uses

$16.2 $27.0 $10.8 $54.0

Civic Station — Civic Station is a development project of 60 affordable housing units on a formerly vacant site in
Gresham. Home Forward is the owner after being awarded the Civic Drive parcel through Metro's site acquisition
program. Home Forward is partnering with the IRCO to provide culturally specific on-site services and operate an
affordable early childhood education center. Home Forward will serve as the developer, owner, and General
Partner of the Low-Income Housing Tax Credit Partnership. This tax credit partnership will utilize four percent
Low-Income Housing Tax Credits, Metro Housing Bond proceeds, OHCS (LIFT) funds, and reserve funds.
Construction finance closed, and construction began in December 2025. The project completion is scheduled for
the 3rd quarter of 2028.

Total Project Sources
and Uses

$14.8 $30.9 $14.3 $4.3 $64.3

Cesar Apartments — Home Forward acquired this property in December 2024 to convert to Permanent Supportive
Housing (PSH) for individuals experiencing chronic homelessness. The Cesar offers 47 units ranging from studios
to two-bedroom apartments. Built in 2022, the modern design, transit-accessible location, and community
amenities will require minimal structural changes to transition into housing that fosters stability and dignity quickly.
The acquisition and conversion of Cesar will utilize the Metro Affordable Housing Bond Fund, Portland Housing
Bureau, Multhomah County General Fund, and Oregon Housing and Community Service PSH Fund.

Total Project Sources

and Uses $13.1 $1.3 $0.9 $15.3

Home Forward 34

Home Forward Board of Commissioners 55
December 2025



e Goose Hollow Lofts — Home Forward acquired this property in May 2025 to convert existing market-rate units to
affordable housing. Goose Hollow Lofts was built in 2018 and offers 61 units ranging from studios to two-bedroom
apartments in SW Portland. These units will transition to affordable housing over time as existing residents move
out and income-qualified residents move in. Home Forward will renovate common areas to construct office space
and provide additional upgrades and features to the building. The acquisition and conversion of Goose Hollow
Lofts will utilize funding from the Portland Housing Bureau’s Rapid Acquisition program and the Oregon Housing
and Community Services LIFT program.

Goose Hollow Lofts

FY25 FY26 FY27 FY28
(in millions) Total
Total Project Sources
and Uses $13.0 $1.4 $0.1 $0.8 $15.3

e Capital Improvement Projects — There are three capital improvement projects in FY26. The total budget for these
projects is $2.0 million, utilizing the HUD Capital Fund Project Grant, OHCS Preservation Grant, and PCEF Grant.

Project Budget Estimated Project

Projects

(In millions) Completion
Sequoia Square Full Envelope $0.2 April 2026
Schiller Way Security Camera/LED Lighting $0.6 March 2026
IFS Electric Vehicles & Chargers Project $1.2 December 2026
Total $2.0

Development Major Revenue and Expense Items

e Operating Revenue is projected to be $11 million, a $4.3 million decrease from FY25. The change is primarily due
to Developer Fee earnings decreasing by $6.0 million from FY25. In FY26, Development will earn $9.3 million in
developer fees from the following projects:

Developer Fees (in millions)

Total
Projects Developer

Fee
Goose Hollow 1.2 0.3
Gresham Civic Station 5.8 5.2
Peaceful Villa Redevelopment 12.5 3.8
9.3

Total $19.5 3

e HUD Subsidies — Public Housing increased by $1.7 million, as a result of rent assistance payments associated
with Peaceful Villa relocation payments.

Home Forward 35
Home Forward Board of Commissioners 56
December 2025



State, Local & Other Grants increased by $47 thousand from FY25.

Total Operating Expenses are projected to be $5.9 million, a $1.3 million increase from the FY25 budget. The
increase is primarily due to Other Tenant Services Expenses of $1.7 million, which are associated with the
Peaceful Villa relocation payments.

Development Funding Required for Current Agency Activities

The cash to Home Forward highlights the cyclical nature of projects where developer fees are earned and paid over
the next fiscal year. The project lifecycle of the department is exhibited by:

Hazel Ying Lee project will generate $6.0 million in developer fees over multiple fiscal years. The first installment
of $1.0 million was paid at the close of construction finance in November 2021. The second and third installments
of $1.9 million will be paid at project conversion to permanent status, scheduled in March 2025. The final
installment of $700 thousand is due upon receipt of Form 8609 by the Limited Partner, planned in June 2026. The
remaining unpaid developer fee of $2.4 million will be paid from the limited partnership's cash flow from
operations and proceeds available for distribution from capital transactions.

T. Joyce Philips Redevelopment project will generate $13.2 million in developer fees over multiple fiscal years.
The first installment of $1.5 million was due at the close of construction finance in April 2022, but was delayed
due to non-receipt of the construction permit and was paid in February 2024. The second installment of $1.5
million was paid for at the project conversion of Phase 1 in June 2024. The third installment of $6.6 million is due
to the project conversion of Phase 2 and is expected to be paid in June 2026. The final installment of $500
thousand is due upon receipt of Form 8609 by the Limited Partner and is scheduled for September 2026. The
remaining unpaid developer fee of $3.1 million will be paid from the limited partnership's cash flow from
operations and proceeds available for distribution from capital transactions.

Fairfield PSH project will generate $3.3 million in developer fees over multiple fiscal years. The first installment of
$772 thousand was paid at the close of construction finance in April 2023. The second installment of $772
thousand was paid upon receipt of the 100% certificate of occupancy in September 2024. The third installment of
$772 thousand is due upon project stabilization in March 2026. The fourth and final installment of $100 thousand
is due upon receipt of IRS Form 8609 and delivery of Partnership tax returns scheduled in June 2026. The
remaining unpaid developer fee of $834 thousand will be paid from the limited partnership's cash flow from
operations and proceeds available for distribution from capital transactions.

Chaku Kumtuks Haws will generate $5.4 million in developer fees over multiple fiscal years. The first installment
of $1 million was paid at the close of construction finance in February 2024. The second installment of $1.5
million is due at construction completion, scheduled to be paid in March 2026. The third installment of $1.5 million
is due upon receipt of the draft cost certification, on an eligible basis, and the lease-up is scheduled to be paid in
June 2026. The fourth and final installment of $300 thousand is due upon receipt of IRS Form 8609 and delivery
of Partnership tax returns, scheduled to be paid in September 2026. The remaining unpaid developer fee of $1.1
million will be paid from the limited partnership's cash from operations and proceeds available for distribution from
capital transactions.

Peaceful Villa Redevelopment project is projected to generate $12.5 million in developer fees over multiple fiscal
years. The first installment of $1.4 million was received in June 2025. The second installment of $1.0 million is
due at construction completion, scheduled to be paid in September 2026. The third installment of $3.5 million is
due at the project conversion planned in March 2028. The fourth installment of $1.0 million is due upon receipt of
IRS Form 8609 and delivery of Partnership tax returns scheduled in June 2028.

Home Forward 36

Home Forward Board of Commissioners 57
December 2025



e York Terrace is projected to generate $6.0 million in developer fees over multiple fiscal years. The first installment
of $1.6 million was paid at the close of construction finance in June 2024. The second installment of $1.6 million
is due upon receipt of the 100% certificate of occupancy, scheduled for June 2026. The third installment of $1.6
million is due at project conversion to permanent, expected to be paid in March 2027. The fourth and final
installment of $100 thousand is due upon receipt of IRS Form 8609 and delivery of Partnership tax returns
scheduled in September 2027. The remaining unpaid developer fee of $1.1 million will be paid from the limited
partnership's cash from operations and proceeds available for distribution from capital transactions.

e Gresham Civic Station Project is projected to generate $5.5 million in developer fees over multiple fiscal years.
The first installment of $300 thousand is due at the close of construction finance, scheduled in December 2026.
The second installment of $832 thousand is expected in June 2027. The third installment of $944 thousand is
scheduled for December 2027. The fourth installment of $250 thousand is scheduled for October 2028.

e Goose Hollow Project is projected to generate $1.2 million in developer fees over multiple fiscal years. The first
installment of $371 thousand was received at acquisition in May 2025. The second installment of $317 thousand
is expected in March 2026.

Home Forward 37
Home Forward Board of Commissioners 58
December 2025



Operating Revenue 8,216,832 11,526,295 3,309,463

Operating Expense 11,398,546 15,021,306 3,622,760
Operating Income Before OH (3,181,714) (3,495,012) (313,298)
Allocated Overhead 2,153,224 2,607,110 453,886
Operating Income After OH (5,334,938) (6,102,121) (767,183)
Funding Flow Activity 5,334,938 6,102,121 767,183
;;re]?]g?;etzlc\q/ﬁ:;id or (Contributed) for Current 5334.938 6,102,121 767,183
Total Budgeted FTE 55.9 54.5 (1.4)

The Community Services department provides services to Home Forward residents, utilizing in-house staff and
contractors. In FY26, the Community Services team will continue to play a role in coordinating and delivering services
at 51 Home Forward properties throughout Multnomah County. The group plans to offer services to approximately
3,000 residents, providing around 15,000 service interactions. Through intentional alignment with community
partners, the department will work holistically with both individual and family systems to further their goals of social,
emotional, academic, and economic advancement and well-being.

This summary includes the service budgets for Home Forward's three HOPE VI developments (Humboldt Gardens,
Stephens Creek Crossing, and New Columbia), Bud Clark Commons, 85 Stories - Phase |, and programs and
services to residents at traditional affordable housing and public housing properties.

Community Services Major Programs/Initiatives/Activities and Estimated Budget Impact

Health Related Social Needs: $392 thousand for a grant-funded initiative through Medicaid for housing-related health
supports. Home Forward staff will engage in outreach to eligible housing participants who may be eligible for
enrollment for services through the Oregon Health Plan (OHP) in order to support stability in housing and access to
services.

Housing Stability: Community services play a crucial role in eviction prevention and resident support in maintaining
housing stability. The department often connects households with community resources and counseling to help
stabilize their housing and address issues before they lead to eviction. Community Services staff also work directly
with residents to identify challenges, such as job loss, health concerns, or family stress, and link them to wrap-around
services like employment programs, education, transportation services, and community engagement.

Home Forward 38
Home Forward Board of Commissioners 59
December 2025



Community Services Major Revenue and Expense Items

Operating Revenue is $11.5 million, an increase of $3.3 million from FY25. The significant contributors to Operating
Revenue are:

Non-Dwelling Rental is $181 thousand from Land Lease revenue at Stephens Creek Crossing, a decrease of $36
thousand.

HUD Subsidies - Public Housing of $208 thousand funds: $57 thousand in the GOALS program and $151
thousand in services at Dahlke, Holgate, Medallion, Ruth Haefner, Schrunk, and Williams.

HUD grants are $1.6 million, an increase of $77 thousand.

$1.2 million in FSS Funding.

$452 thousand in the Congregated Housing Services Program (CHSP).

$62 thousand in endowment funds at Stephens Creek Crossing.

State, Local, & Other Grants are $6.7 million, an increase of $3.5 million.

$722 thousand in Medicaid Revenue from senior/disabled support services (CHSP).
$2.4 million from Multnomah County for Bud Clark Commons programs.

$392 thousand from the Health-Related Social Needs grant.

Other Revenue and IA Revenue of $2.9 million combined, a decrease of $199 thousand from FY25, primarily
consisting of:

Program Fees from properties are $2.4 million.
Tenant Fees of $289 thousand for CHSP participant fees.

$378 thousand in Community Services contract fees for services at properties in Clackamas County.

Operating Expenses are $15.0 million, an increase of $3.6 million from FY25. The primary drivers of Operating
Expenses are:

Administrative Expenses of $866 thousand, a decrease of $105 thousand.
Administrative Personnel Expense is $630 thousand, a decrease of $88 thousand.
Other Admin Expenses of $235 thousand, a decrease of $18 thousand.

Tenant Services expense is $12.7 million, an increase of $3.3 million.

Direct Community Services, Program Supplies, Contract Tenant Services, and other expenses are $6.1 million,
an increase of $2.3 million primarily due to increased contracted services.

Tenant Services Personnel expense is $6.6 million, an increase of $998 thousand.

Program Personnel Expense is $1.1 million, an increase of $278 thousand.

Home Forward 39

Home Forward Board of Commissioners 60
December 2025



e Inter-Agency Expense is $294 thousand for the Community Services department administration fee, an increase
of $108 thousand.

e General Expenses of $77 thousand for insurance.
Community Services Funding Required for Current Agency Activities

The Community Services department needs $6.1 million to fund all planned operations fully, an increase of $767
thousand.

Home Forward
Home Forward Board of Commissioners
December 2025

61

40



Budget Commentary — Administration

Summary Budget Data FY25 Budget FY26 Budget (:::::::;)
Operating Revenue 560,654 - (560,654)
Operating Expense 18,132,546 18,067,805 (64,741)
Operating Income Before OH (17,571,892) (18,067,805) (495,913)
Allocated Overhead (17,571,892) (18,223,302) (651,410)
Operating Income After OH - 155,497 155,497
Funding Flow Activity (996,227) (155,497) 840,730
ll:;re\?]?f;?sﬁ:;esd or (Contributed) for Current (996,227) (155,497) 840,730
Total Budgeted FTE 57.9 52.9 (5.0)

The Administration group provides management and administrative support to Home Forward’s operating
departments. Administration is composed of: Accounting & Finance, Communications, Equity, Executive, Home
Forward-Owned Fleet Vehicles, Human Resources, Information Technology, Legal, Policy, Procurement, and Talent
& Organization Development.

In addition, this group includes activities for several agency-wide initiatives focused on research and developing new
program opportunities to further the Agency’s mission.

Administration Major Programs/Initiatives/Activities and Estimated Budget Impact

During the year, Home Forward will continue to implement upgrades to Yardi Voyager 7s, including Rent Cafe,
SharePoint Document Management, and other features to enhance and support Home Forward's work.

Home Forward will also invest in improved data storage, network recovery options, and cybersecurity.
Administration Major Revenue and Expense Items

Operating Expenses are budgeted at $18.1 million.

e Personnel costs will be $10.6 million, an increase of $529 thousand. These costs reflect planned compensation
increases and a higher PERS liability.

e Other Administrative Expenses will be $6.3 million. The primary drivers of Other Admin Expenses are: $1.6 million
in Software, $900 thousand in Data & Networking, $783 thousand in Unum Leave (Paid Leave Oregon), and $260
thousand in Auditing Fees. Details by Administration Department are detailed below.

Home Forward 41
Home Forward Board of Commissioners 62
December 2025



e Consulting expenses will be $571 thousand, primarily due to the continued development of Yardi Voyager 7s.

Administration Department

Accounting & Finance
Communications

Equity

Executive

Home Forward Community Partnerships
Human Resources

Inclusion Council

Information Technology

Legal

New Market West

Policy

Purchasing

Talent & Organizational Development

Total

Percentage of

FY26 Budget Other
(in thousands) Administrative
Expense

337 5.4%

184 2.9%

144 2.3%

561 8.9%

237 3.8%

1,072 17.1%

32 0.5%

3,233 51.4%

84 1.3%

45 0.7%

11 0.2%

190 3.0%

158 2.5%

6,288 100.0%

e There will be $295 thousand for Other Maintenance Expenses and Utilities at New Market West.

Home Forward

Home Forward Board of Commissioners
December 2025

63

42



Budget Commentary — Real Estate Finance

Summary Budget Data FY25 Budget FY26 Budget (::::re:::é)
Operating Revenue 615,931 662,291 46,360
Operating Expense 88,780 160,757 71,977
Operating Income Before OH 527,150 501,534 (25,616)
Allocated Overhead - - -
Operating Income After OH 527,150 501,534 (25,616)
Funding Flow Activity (836,674) (903,328) (66,654)
Funding Required or (Contributed) for Current 1,026,883 (903,328) (1,930,211)

Agency Activities

Total Budgeted FTE -

The Real Estate Finance group captures the financing activity for Home Forward. It allows for greater transparency by
isolating the financing activities from the Agency's operating activities. The activity includes land lease revenues, cell

tower arrangements, and omnibus loans issued with real estate activity.

Real Estate Finance Major Revenue and Expense Items

e Operating Income is projected to be $663 thousand, an increase of $46 thousand. The primary drivers of

Operating Income are:
e $404 thousand for Land Lease Revenue.

e $259 thousand for Cell Phone Tower Revenue.

e Operating Expense is projected to be $161 thousand, an increase of $72 thousand. The primary drivers of

Operating Expense are:
e $11 thousand in Insurance.

e $150 thousand in Depreciation.

Home Forward
Home Forward Board of Commissioners
December 2025

64

43



Attachments

Summary of Moving to Work Initiative Funds

Initiative

Description

In collaboration with community partners, provide limited housing
assistance to eligible households in Multnomah County who are at risk of

STRA Funding o S . : . . FY12 1,505,386 1,035,715
eviction, are newly homeless, or are experiencing immediate crises in their
housing.
Home Forward STRA Hom.e 'Forward will funq a pO{Tlon of the Shon‘-Terrp Rental Assistance program EY14 572,250 379,907
administered by the Joint Office of Homeless Services.
Home Forward will provide short to medium-term rent assistance and leverage
Alder School school support at Alder School to improve academic outcomes and housing FY14 499,119 350,291
stability.
Shared housing model for former or transitioning foster care youth who are
New Doors/NAFY experiencing homelessness or at risk of homelessness. Leverages service FY14 44,201 29,313
dollars from Multnomah County.
Home Forward will provide short to medium-term rent assistance and leverage
Earl Boyles Housing Partnership school support at Earl Boyles School to improve academic outcomes and FY17 246,754 173,177
housing stability.
Home Forward will provide support, and Worksource and Human Solutions to
Economic Opportunity Program aid unstably housed or homeless households successfully engaged in FY17 143,063 103,027
Worksource training or employment programs.
Working with community partner Metropolitan Public Defender to support
Expungement Partnership Home Forward residents with the following: criminal record expungements; FY17 274,892 -
consultation to meet ongoing obligations to the courts.
Home Forward 44
Home Forward Board of Commissioners 65

December 2025



Initiative

Description

Funds an agreement with Worksystems for residents in pursuit of

Worksystems Liaison . FY17 47,000 38,850
economic advancement products.

Barrier Reduction and Combines initiatives to promote asset-building and short-term respite care

Obportunities for resident impacted by community violence and assists the senior and FY12 70,522 70,560

PP disabled population to age in place by maintaining their quality of life.

A grant program for resident groups from our public or affordable housing

Neighbor 2 Neighbor communities. Resident groups submit applications for grant funds to FY12 49,613 75,600
improve their community livability and reinforce community values.
LBS uses a blend of MTW Section 8 and public housing operating funds to

. subsidize rental units. Leveraging subsidies allows for a more adequate

Lzl Zlanclze) 2ubsiely (L) revenue stream and increases the number of households that can be Py LAzl Zolleneie

served.
. . The initiative addresses a severe barrier to VASH Vouchers by providing

VASH Security Deposit security deposits for homeless veterans leasing units requiring deposits. Fy12 93,240 36,750
Attract new landlords and units in low-poverty areas to the Housing Choice

Landlord Incentive Fund Voucher program. Eligible units must be in zip codes considered low- FY13 35,700 -
poverty areas and have not had a tenant in the prior 24 months.

C An inter-jurisdictional transfer program to assist participants who are

Egr%?tlc Violence Transfer victims of domestic violence in relocating to cities outside Multnomah FY13 10,500 -
County. Home Forward will provide up to $2,000 in relocation assistance.
Flexible rent assistance helps participants with various barriers to housing,

Flexible Rent Assistance including applications, bad debt, security deposits, expungement fees, and FY20 105,000 36,750
other financial assistance to aid the leasing process.

Tenant Education A program designed to help our tenants better understand the rental FY16 87,945 52,500
process.

Home Forward 45
Home Forward Board of Commissioners 66

December 2025



Initiative Description SUSt NEs fNes
. Year Budget Budget
Nesika lllahee Locally funded rent assistance for Nesika lllahee. FY21 86,303 91,222
Mamook Tokatee Locally funded rent assistance for Mamook Tokatee. FY25 83,160 87,900
Lift Urban Food Pantry Eruc:\gdrg]rgrj] for the partnership program with the Lift Urban Food Pantry FY25 15,750 42,000
East County Enrichment Funds Enrichment funds to support sites located within East Multhomah County. FY25 36,750 -
Total — MTW Initiatives 4,460,532 3,737,771
Home Forward 46
Home Forward Board of Commissioners 67

December 2025



FY26 Estimated Households Served by Category

Households
Category Served Percent
Affordable Housing 2,735 13%
Special Needs 466 2% Affordable Tax Credits - 85
, , o Housing Stories
Tax Credits — 85 Stories 609 3% 2735 609
Tax Credits 2,126 10%
Public Housing 388 2%
Rent Assistance 15,346 71%
Total 21,670
Rent Assistance : :
Ocaupying -4,384 -25% — ?1)(26(5: = Lesg:
Affordable Housing / ’ / Special
Tax Credit Units Needs
. 466
Unduplicated Total 17,286 100% -
| Public
*Rent Assistance Occupying Affordable Units represents Housing
voucher holders that live within our Affordable and Tax 388
Credit properties. The 4,384 represent residents already Rent Assistance
included in the Rent Assistance / Affordable Housing / 15,346
Tax Credit Portfolios. An adjustment is made to provide
an unduplicated total.
Home Forward's Affordable Portfolio properties will
serve 6,420 households, given the expected average
occupancy rate of 93%. Home Forward-owned
affordable properties are expected to serve 2,735
families, tax credit limited partnerships will serve 3,702
households, and master leased properties will serve 466
households.
Home Forward 47

Home Forward Board of Commissioners
December 2025

68



FY26 Estimated Rent Assistance Households Served by Category

Shelter Plus Care  Single Room Occupancy
130

Moving to Work Initiati 472\
OVIng (o) OorK Initiatives
240 N

Long Term Rent Assistance

1,448 N

Port-Ins

716\ e

Mainstream

203
FYIN\

280
VASH_—

911

Section 18/

624

RAD /

1,571 \_ Project-Based Vouchers

3,072

Tenant-Based Vouchers

5,188

Home Forward
Home Forward Board of Commissioners
December 2025

69

48



Subsidy Proration Trends

Subsidy Proration Trends '

Actual Funding Year CY 18 CY 19 CY 20 CY 21 CY 22 CY 23 CY 24 CY 25 CY 26 (Est)
H FY 2018 FY 2019 FY 2019 FY 2021 FY22 FY23 FY24 FY25 FY26
ome Forward Budget Year
12/31 YE
Section 8 Voucher Funding 99.7% 99.5% 99.4% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 99.5% 100.6% 90.0%
Section 8 Admin Fees 78.0% 76.0% 79.0% 80.0% 82.0% 87.0% 88.0% 91.0% 75.0%
Public Housing Operating Subsidy 94.7% 96.3% 91.7% 92.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 80.0%
$160
100.0% .\v — -— - -— $140
95.0% $120
[F) —_
o 90.0% 2
£ ’ $100 5
[}) =
% 85.0% £
o $80 £
5 -
= 2
o S
o (1

80.0%

$60
75.0%
70.0% $40
65.0% $20
60.0% $0

CY15 CY16 CY17 CY18 CY19 CY20 CcY21 CY22 CY23 CY24 CY25 CY26

(Est.)
mmm HCV Funding mmm HCV Admin Fee Funding === Public Housing Op Subsidy Funding
=@=HCV Proration =g=HCV Admin Fee Proration =o-=Public Housing Op Subsidy Proration

(FY26:90.0%) (FY26: 75.0%) (FY26: 80.0%)

' Proration represents the percentage of total funding under HUD's program formula. Percentages below 100% represent inadequate federal budget appropriations
based on HUD's program formulas.

Home Forward
Home Forward Board of Commissioners 70
December 2025



Cumulative Change in HCV Block Grant Funding vs. Cumulative Change in Metro Area Apartment Rent

60.0%

o
ol
(=}
ES

40.0%

30.0%

20.0%

Percentage Change (combined impact of proration and inflation)

=
2
=]
F

3.3%
0.0% d °-3%

CYi4 CY15 CYi1e

mmm HCV Block Grant Funding

54.0%
49.0%

=

39.2%

21.9%
16.69% Il 17-6%
14.6%
11.8%
5010

Cyi7 CyYis CY19 CY20 Cyz1

== Cumulative Change in Metro Area Apartment Rent

, 160.0M
54.9%

146.3M
142.7M 140.0M

36.9%
31.9%
| 26.9% |

CY23 CY24 CY25 CY26
(Est.)

120.0M

100.0M

36.9%

80.0M

60.0M

40.0M

20.0M

0.0M

=0=Cumulative Change in HCV Funding

HCV Funding (in millions)

Home Forward
Home Forward Board of Commissioners
December 2025

71

50



FTE Change Comparison Schedule

Full-Time Equivalents (FTEs) by Funding Source

FY25 FY26 Increase /

Budget Budget (Decrease)
Agency Funded 322.8 299.9 (22.9)
Other Legal Entity Funded 54.7 53.1 (1.6)
Total Agency-Managed Positions 377.5 353.0 (24.5)

In addition to 5.5 FTE changes within the calendar year 2025, Home Forward reduced FTE by 30 in 2026, leading to

the overall decrease of 24.5 FTE shown above.

Home Forward
Home Forward Board of Commissioners
December 2025

72

51



85 Stories: Multi-year development initiative to change the subsidy structure for ten high-rise public housing
apartment communities to leverage equity and debt to make needed capital repairs to deteriorating building systems.

ACOP: Admission and Condition Operating Plan — the document that establishes guidelines for determining public
housing eligibility and occupancy.

AH: Affordable Housing — properties owned in whole or partly by Home Forward and managed by outside property
management companies.

ARF: Asset Repositioning Fee — Temporary subsidy to aid in the disposition of Public Housing units. The subsidy
continues for two years and is tied to the Operating Subsidy. The first year is funded at 75% of the Operating Subsidy,
and the second year is 50%.

CFP: Capital Fund Projects
CHSP: Congregate Housing Services Program

Congregate Care: Programs that provide services to help senior and disabled residents maintain their
independence.

CSS: Community & Supportive Services — Community services are tied to a HOPE VI property.
CY: Calendar Year — the year running from January 1 to December 31.

DDTF: Demolition or Disposition Transitional Funding — a five-year limited duration continuation of the Capital Fund to
assist with the modernization and development of Public Housing units.

FSS: Family Self-Sufficiency — HUD programs that seek to increase participants' skills and enable them to obtain
employment.

FTE: Full-Time Equivalent measures how many full-time employees by adding all positions, including those that are
part-time.

FUP: Family Unification Program —a HUD Section 8 Voucher program focused on reuniting youth with their families.
FYI: Foster Youth to Independence — a HUD Section 8 Voucher program focused on youth exiting foster care.
FY: Fiscal Year — the 12-month accounting year.

GOALS: Greater Opportunities to Advance, Learn, and Succeed — a Home Forward program that provides Section 8
and public housing clients with five years of supportive services as they work toward economic independence.

HAP: Housing Assistance Payment — the amount of money Section 8 pays to a landlord on behalf of the tenant.
HCV: Housing Choice Voucher

HFDE: Home Forward Development Enterprises

HUD: US Department of Housing and Urban Development

IA: Inter-Agency Revenue/Expense — direct cost transfer between departments and operating groups.

IFS: Integrated Facilities Services and Sustainability

Home Forward 52
Home Forward Board of Commissioners 73
December 2025



LBS: Local Blended Subsidy
LIFT: Local Innovation and Fast Track

LIHTC: Low-Income Housing Tax Credit is a program created by HUD in 1986 to provide tax credits for the
acquisition, rehabilitation, or new construction of rental housing targeted to lower-income households.

LP: Limited Partnership
MIF: MTW Initiatives Fund — Home Forward funding source for significant initiatives, funded from flexible funds.
MOD: Moderate Rehabilitation

MTW: Moving to Work: a national program authorized by Congress and administered by HUD that allows certain
regulatory flexibilities to some 30 participating housing authorities.

NOFA: Notice of Funding Availability

OH: Overhead

OHCS: Oregon Housing and Community Services

PERS: Public Employee Retirement System

PCEF: Portland Community Engagement Funds

PH: Public Housing — Home Forward owned and operated subsidized housing supported by HUD funding.
PHB: Portland Housing Bureau

PILOT: Payment In Lieu of Taxes — payments negotiated with local municipalities to cover city services generally
funded by property taxes. Currently, contracts provide for reinvestment of these funds into Short-Term Rent
Assistance.

PSH: Permanent Supportive Housing

RAD: Rental Assistance Demonstration — HUD program to preserve public housing properties by converting them to
Project-Based Section 8, allowing housing authorities to leverage public and private debt to reinvest in public housing
stock.

ROSS: Resident Opportunities and Self-Sufficiency Grant Program — HUD program that funds staff to coordinate
community resources with public housing residents’ needs.

RLRA: Regional Long Term Rent Assistance — Locally funded rental assistance in combination with Clackamas and
Washington Counties.

Shelter Plus Care: a federal rent assistance program for homeless people with disabilities provided in connection
with supportive services funded from sources outside the program.

SRO: Single Room Occupancy

STRA: Short-Term Rent Assistance: a program administered by Home Forward that disperses funding from public
sector partners to agencies that aid families experiencing homelessness or in danger of losing their housing.

Home Forward 53
Home Forward Board of Commissioners 74
December 2025



Towers: A group of four properties originally in the Public Housing Portfolio converted to site-based Section 8 in
September 2013. The four properties are Gallagher Place, Hollywood East, Northwest Towers, and Sellwood Center.

TPV: Tenant Protection Vouchers

VASH: Veterans Affairs Supportive Housing — Section 8 Vouchers for homeless veterans referred by Veterans
Affairs.

Home Forward 54
Home Forward Board of Commissioners 75
December 2025



This Page Intentionally Left Blank

Home Forward
Home Forward Board of Commissioners
December 2025

76

55



Home Forward
Fiscal Year 2026 Operating Statement by Operating Group

Public Home
Rent Housing Affordable Asset Property Integrated Community Real Estate Forward

Operating Statement Assistance Portfolio Portfolio Management Management Safety Facilities Development Services  Administration Finance Reserves MIF Elimination Total
Dwelling Rental B - % 997,225 5 31492166 3 - 3 - - % - 3 5 - 3 - 3 - 3 3 (7,386,318) § 32,489,391
Mon-Dwelling Rental - 76,609 1,482,371 - - - - 181,500 - 662,291 - 240271
HUD Subsidies | Housing Assistance 158,357,717 - 1,459,228 - 169,000 - - 1,691,760 - - - - 161,677,705
HUD Subsidies | Admin Fee 13,460,800 - - - 554 915 - - - - - - - 14,015,715
HUD Subsidies | Public Housing - 5,236,378 - - - - 208,166 - - - 5,444 544
HUD Grants 9,403,244 - - 235,035 - - - 1,567,859 - - - 11,206,139
Development Fee Revenue, Met - - - - - - 9,256,992 - - - - 9,256,992
State, Local & Other Grants 38,591,672 - - - - - 1,153,299 46,538 6,714,701 - - - 46,506,211
Other Revenue 12,801,360 13,261 755,880 - 1,824,546 - 1,517,808 - 1,782,223 - - (380,676) 18,698,377
Total IA Revenue - - - - - - - - 1,071,845 - - (1,071,845) -
Total Operating Revenues 232,614,793 6,323,473 35,192,645 - 2,783,796 - 2,671,107 10,995,290 11,526,295 - 662,291 (8,838,839) 301,697,844
Housing Assistance Payments 229,676,899 19,277 4,800 - - - - - - - - (5,586,249) 229,700,976
Housing Assistance Payments | Federal 190 580 314 18,277 4 800 - - - - - - - (5,586,249) 190 604 391
Housing Assistance Payments | Non-Federal 35,096 585 - - - - - - - - - - - - 39,096 585
Administration 1.704,394 376,811 7,894,827 969.171 1,240,257 526,558 327,734 1,446,030 865,877 16,376,096 - 923,489 (369,588) 32,651,243
Administrative Personnel Expense 930,116 - - 911,574 1,031,810 430,872 182,140 1,123,583 630,685 10,088,765 - - - 15,328,645
Other Admin Expenses 774 277 376,811 7,894 827 57,598 208,347 95,686 145,584 322 447 235,191 6,287,331 - 923,489 (369,588) 17,321,598
Tenant Services 135,905 4,800 115,472 - - - - 2,007,115 12 689,941 101,000 - - - 15,054 237
Tenant Svcs Personnel Expense - - - - - - - 315,358 6,622 459 - - - 6,937,819
Other Tenant Svcs Expenses 135 905 4 800 115,472 - - - - 1,691, 760 6,067, 482 101,000 - - 8,116 419
Program Expense 13,138,084 524 A1 906,474 987,723 2,892,261 - 367,666 2,359,988 1,094,239 431,861 - - 22702 708
Frogram Personnel Expense 13,138,084 501,504 800,622 987,723 2,892 261 - 367,666 2,359,988 1,094,239 431,861 - - 22,573,949
Other Program Expenses - 22,907 105,852 - - - - - - - - - 128,759
Maintenance - 1,623,582 9,324 513 - 1,295,773 99,112 793,455 - 404,227 - - 13,440,666
Maintenance Personnel Expense - 620,079 707 347 - 1,338 554 78,352 699 505 - 78,352 - - 3,522, 189
Other Maintenance Expenses - 903,503 - (42, 776) 20 760 93 950 - 325 875 - - 9.918 478
Fees/Overhead Charged - - - - 3,252 - 3,500 - - - - 6,752
Utilities - 755,075 5,603,012 - - - - - 91,500 - - 6,449 587
Total |1A Expense - 121,812 643.807 - - - - 294,31 - - (1,059,940) -
Depreciation - 256,273 7,275,460 - - - - 1,060 - 382,274 149,932 42,791) 8,064 998
General 170,315 294 451 3,154 483 - 301,591 36,832 101,919 25125 76,928 280,847 10,825 - - 4 453 316
Total Operating Expenses 244,825,596 3,876,492 34,922,848 1,956,894 5,733,140 662,501 1,594,274 5,839,322 15,021,306 18,067,805 160,757 923,489 (7,058,568) 332,524,484
Operating Income (Loss) (12,210,803) 2,446,981 269,797 (1,956,894) (2,949,344) (662,501) 1,076,833 5,155,968 (3,495,012)  ({18,067,805) 501,524 (923,489) (1,780,272)  (30,826,639)
Total Overhead Allocations 5,056,320 - - 2,575,184 4,794,555 84,314 462,766 2,643,054 2,607,110 (18,223,302) - - - -
Operating Income (Loss) after Overhead (17,267,123) 2,446,981 269,797 (4,532,078) (7,743,899) (746,815) 614,068 2,512,914 (6,102,121) 155,497 501,534 (923,489) (1,780,272)  (30,826,639)
Reserve Funding - - - - - - - 9,572,147 - - - (9,572,147) - -
Operating Income (Loss) after Reserve Funding (17,267,123) 2,446,981 269,797 (4,532,078) (7,743,899) (746,815) 614,068 12,085,061 (6,102,121) 155,497 501,534 (10,495,636) (1,780,272)  (30,826,639)
Investment Income - 264 558,6588 - - - - 4272 - - 713,748 - - 1,307,172
Interest Expense - - (1.5958,636) - - - - - - (155,497) - - (1,754,133)
Amortization - - - - - - - - . - . -
Investment in Partnership Valuation Charge - - - - - - - - - - - -
Gain (Loss) on Sale of Assets - - 7,556 2,700,000 - - - - - - - 2,707,556
Change in Derivative Contract Value - - (50) - - - - - - - - - (50)
Net Other Income (Expense) - 264 (1,002,243) 2,700,000 - - - 4,272 - (155,497) 713,748 - 2,260,544
HUD MNonoperating Contributions - - (625,000) - - - - - - - 956,872 - 331,872
Other Monoperating Contributions - - 217,020 - - - - - - - - 217,020
ARRA Nonoperating Contributions - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Reserve Funded Capital Contributions - - - - - - - - (3,217.800) 3,217,800 - -
Met Capital Contributions Transferred - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Net Capital Contributions - - (407,980) - - - - - - (2,260,928) 3,217,800 - 548,892
Other Equity Changes - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Change In Net Position $ (17,267,123) § 2,447,245 § (1,140,426) $§ (1,832,078) $ (7,743,899) § (746,815) § 614,068 $§ 12,089,333 $ (6,102,121) § - $ (1,045,646) § (7,277,836) § $ (1,780,272) $ (28,017,203)

* Numbers may vary slightly due to rounding

Home Forward
Home Forward Board of Commissioners
December 2025

56
7



homefon

MEMORANDUM
To: Board of Commissioners pate: December 16, 2025
rom: Kandy Sage, Chief Financial suvect:  Authorizes Home Forward to
Officer Enter into Agreements for
Insurance Services Beginning
Jeff Klatke, Manager of Risk & January 1, 2026
Treasury Resolution 25-12-02

The Board of Commissioners is requested to authorize Home Forward to enter into
agreements for insurance coverage for the period beginning January 1, 2026.

This action supports Home Forward’s 2023-2026 Strategic Plan goal to lead within the
housing ecosystem by working with partners to align resources to meet community needs.

BACKGROUND

Home Forward is entering the tenth year of its comprehensive insurance program and uses
Marsh MclLennan to market the program for insurance coverage for Home Forward and its
related entities. Lines of coverage include property, casualty/general liability, automotive
liability, financial, and professional lines, crime, cyber/special risk coverage, terrorism, and
other miscellaneous coverage. (Please note: health insurance and workers compensation
insurance are administered by our Human Resources group and are separate from this
renewal process.)

OVERVIEW: HOME FORWARD INSURANCE GROUP AND MARKET UPDATES
Total 2026 insurance premiums for all lines of coverage increased by 4.65%.

The 2026 insurance renewals reflect a strong loss prevention program between Home
Forward and our insurance providers as well as a softening in the insurance market with
slower premium growth though there continues to be a contraction in the number of
insurance providers for wood-frame multifamily properties.

135 SW Ash Street, Portland, Oregon 97204 TteL 503.802.8300 771v 503.802.8554 homeforward.org



Home Forward’s insurance program contains two segments which include the Home
Forward Insurance Group insurance captive and external insurance carriers. Home Forward
Insurance Group provides the first level of insurance coverage for our property, general
liability, auto liability and public officials insurance lines up to a specified cap. External
insurance carriers then provide an additional layer of insurance for property, general liability,
auto liability and public officials along with additional insurance lines for cyber, crime, and
other policies that do not include coverage within the insurance captive.

Home Forward Insurance Group continues to deliver value to Home Forward by reducing
our exposure to the external marketplace and keeping premium and rate increases below
market levels.

e The 2026 aggregate insurance premium increase for Home Forward Insurance
Group is 2.8% and is lower than the aggregate premium increase for external
insurance providers of 5.5%.

e The captive also provided aggregate rate reductions of 8.4% on the property policy,
and rates and premiums remained unchanged from 2025 on all other policies.

OVERVIEW: INSURANCE PROGRAM RENEWAL

Property insurance
The valuation of Home Forward’s portfolio increased by 13%, driven by the addition of 214
affordable housing units and inflation of asset replacement values.

e Home Forward Insurance Group continues to provide the first $2 million aggregate
layer of property insurance coverage. This is supported by Starr Specialty to ensure
compliance with investor and funder requirements.

e The fronting fee for Starr Specialty will remain flat next year in the amount of $175
thousand.

e Travelers Excess and Surplus Lines Company (Travelers) will provide the rest of
coverage up to a $100 million limit.

o Property level deductibles will remain at $100 thousand per occurrence.
Earthquake liability coverage remains the same with a $10 million limit.



o Flood liability coverage remains the same with a $10 million limit.

o Terrorism coverage remains the same with a $50 million limit. We will continue
to receive this coverage from Lloyd’s/Roanoke Group.

e Total annual costs for property coverage provided by Home Forward Insurance
Group captive will increase $50 thousand, 3.6%, for a total of $1.5 million.

e Total annual costs for property coverage provided by Travelers will increase $248
thousand, 9.6%, for a total of $2.7 million.

General liability, auto liability, professional liability, terrorism, and other insurance

General liability and Excess GL will continue to provide $12 million in coverage, as required
by several of our lending agreements. This year, Home Forward reduced the number of
insurance providers needed to provide this coverage from four to three resulting in premium
cost savings of $140 thousand.

e Home Forward Insurance Group continues to provide the first $250 thousand aggregate
layer of insurance coverage for auto liability and $250 thousand aggregate for general
liability

e Munich Re will provide a package of coverage including general liability, auto,
professional liability, terrorism coverage, and other coverage up to a $5 million / $10
million aggregate per event.

o Total annual premium costs for general liability and auto liability provided by
Home Forward Insurance Group captive will remain flat for a total of $341
thousand.

o Total annual premium costs for general liability, auto liability, professional
liability, terrorism, and other coverage provided by Munich RE will increase by
$193 thousand or 41% for a total of $679 thousand.

e Two insurance providers will carry policies for Excess Liability in 2026 for a total
combined aggregate coverage limit of $12 million.

o Total premium will decrease by $248 thousand or 40.3%, to a total of $368
thousand.



o Waestchester will provide coverage of $5 million to a limit of $10 million.
o Lexington will provide coverage of $10 million to a limit of $12 million.

Crime insurance
e Travelers Casualty will continue to provide coverage for crime as we enter year 2 of a 3-
year policy that will expire 12/31/2027.

o Total annual cost will remain the same at just under $6 thousand with no
increase from year 1 of the policy.

Public officials’ liability insurance
e Home Forward Insurance Group continues to provide the first $100 thousand aggregate
layer of insurance coverage for public officials’ liability.

e Chubb (ACE) will continue to provide public officials’ liability coverage with a limit increase
of $1 million from a $2 million limit to a $3 million limit.

o Total annual cost for the coverage provided by Home Forward Insurance
Group will remain flat at $42 thousand.

o Total annual cost for the coverage provided by Chubb (ACE) will increase
by $18 thousand, 35%, to a total of $71 thousand,

Cyber insurance
e Coalition will continue to provide cyber coverage up to a $5 million limit.

o Total annual cost will remain flat in the amount of $65 thousand.

CONCLUSION
Insurance premium renewals for Home Forward Insurance Group will increase by a total of
$1.8 million in 2026.

Insurance premium renewals for third-party insurance providers will increase by a total of
$4.1 million in 2026.

Home Forward staff requests that the Board of Commissioners approve the 2026 insurance
program renewals detailed above.



A

home

RESOLUTION 25-12-02

RESOLUTION 25-12-02 AUTHORIZES HOME FORWARD TO ENTER INTO AGREEMENTS
FOR INSURANCE SERVICES COMMENCING JANUARY 1, 2026

WHEREAS, Home Forward, is a public body corporate and politic of the State of Oregon;

WHEREAS, Home Forward requires appropriate levels of insurance coverage to protect its
residents, employees, assets, and reputational well-being;

WHEREAS, a comprehensive insurance program has been designed, in consultation with
Marsh, to ensure appropriate levels of insurance coverage for property, casualty/general
liability, automotive, boiler and machinery, financial and professional lines, cyber, and other
miscellaneous business risks, including umbrella coverage;

NOW, THEREFORE, IT BE RESOLVED: that the Board of Commissioners of Home Forward
authorizes Home Forward’s Board Chair, Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer,
Chief Administrative Officer or Chief Operating Officer to execute agreements for Home
Forward’s comprehensive insurance program including property, boiler & equipment,
terrorism insurance, casualty/general liability, automotive, umbrella, financial and
professional lines, crime, and cyber/special risks and other insurance coverages as needed.

ADOPTED: DECEMBER 16, 2025

Attest: Home Forward:

lvory N. Mathews, Secretary Matthew Gebhardt, Chair



&

MEMORANDUM

To: Board of Commissioners pae:  December 16, 2025

rom Jimmy Rattanasouk, Interim swiec: - AmMending the Housing Choice
Director of Housing Choice Voucher Administrative Plan to
Vouchers Reflect Home Forward’s Ability
503.802.8568 to Limit Rent Increases in the

Tenant-Based Voucher Program

lan Slingerland, Director of Resolution 25-12-03

Homeless Initiatives and
Supportive Housing
503.802.8565

The Board of Commissioners is requested to authorize changes to Chapter 9 of Home
Forward’s Administrative Plan adding formal language to codify Home Forward’s ability to
limit rent increases for the Tenant-Based Housing Choice Voucher program and
associated programs.

These actions support Home Forward’s 2023-2026 Strategic Plan Goal to prioritize
housing stability for residents and participants.

BACKGROUND

In order to address projected federal funding reductions, Home Forward proposes to limit
operational expenses through various policy efforts. One common expense increase to the
Housing Choice Voucher program is through annual rent increases. At a time where Fair
Market Rents are falling in our region, to ensure that Home Forward is able to continue to
serve as many households as possible, Home Forward will utilize its ability to pause rent
increases throughout the tenant-based voucher program.

Home Forward has the authority to enact limit rent increases pursuant to authority granted
in its Moving to Work Contract and associated Moving to Work (MTW) Plan, which is

Home Forward Board of Commissioners 79
December 2025



approved annually by the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD).
Home Forward’s participation in the Moving to Work program allows regulatory flexibility to
implement approaches that differ from standard HUD policies. This effort is being taken to
allow Home Forward to respond to federal funding reductions that threaten the stability of
housing for low-income households in our community.

Home Forward’s Moving to Work Plan includes the following language:

Home Forward may deny all rent increase requests, or pause the processing of all
rent increase requests, from landlords of tenant-based Housing Choice Voucher
holders for reasons other than non-compliance with rent reasonableness in rent
setting.

Home Forward’s Administrative Plan governs policies and procedures within the Housing
Choice Voucher program.

OVERVIEW - ADMINISTRATIVE PLAN CHANGES

With clear authority granted by the Department of Housing and Urban Development,
Home Forward proposes to add the following language to Chapter 9-1.H. of the
Administrative Plan, titled “Changes in Lease or Rent.”

Home Forward may deny all rent increase requests, or pause the processing of all
rent increase requests, from landlords of tenant-based Housing Choice
Voucher holders for reasons other than non-compliance with rent reasonableness
in rent setting.

OVERVIEW - IMPLEMENTATION

Home Forward has begun work to temporarily pause rent increases for Tenant Based
Vouchers with an effective date on or after April 1, 2026 through March 31, 2027. This is
expected to result in cost savings of approximately $4,250,000 per full calendar year. To
ensure these cost savings are being borne equally across all housing providers, Home
Forward has also informed landlords for Project Based Vouchers that rents will not
increase for the period January 1, 2026 through December 31, 2026.

With the uncertainty of Federal funding and the national landscape changing day to day,
this is a prudent step in helping control Housing Assistance Payment expenses while

Home Forward Board of Commissioners 80
December 2025



continuing to serve as many households as possible. This change is part of a broader,
organization-wide effort to ensure that Home Forward can continue to meet its mission of
providing safe, affordable housing for our community.

Home Forward relies on a steady and committed base of landlords who partner to house
thousands of households in Multnomah County. We recognize the impact on owners, and
we are providing as much notice and information as possible. This change will also ensure
Home Forward is able to continue providing landlords with reliable and timely housing
assistance payments now and into the future.

CONCLUSION

Accordingly, staff request approval for changes to Chapter 9 of the Administrative Plan to
reflect the authority granted by the Department of Housing and Urban Development in
Home Forward’s Annual Moving to Work Plan.

ATTACHMENTS
The redline or blackline version of the chapter can be provided upon request.

Home Forward Board of Commissioners 81
December 2025



o

home

RESOLUTION 25-12-03

RESOLUTION 25-12-03 AUTHORIZES HOME FORWARD STAFF TO AMEND
CHAPTER 9 OF HOME FORWARD'S ADMINISTRATIVE PLAN GOVERNING THE
ADMINISTRATION OF RENT ASSISTANCE.

WHEREAS, the Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) permits a
Public Housing Authority to amend and modify its Administrative Plan with Board of
Commissioners' approval; and

WHEREAS, Home Forward received Moving to Work Authority to implement a
pause on rent increases to the Tenant-Based Voucher Program; and

WHEREAS, Home Forward proposes amendments to Chapter 9 of the
Administrative Plan to incorporate the updates outlined in the above referenced
notice, namely to limit rent increases in the Housing Choice Voucher program and
associated programs; and

WHEREAS, from time to time, Home Forward reviews its programmatic policy
documents to bring them into alignment with current policies, practices, statutes,
and regulations; and

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Board of Commissioners of Home
Forward that Home Forward staff is authorized to make changes to Chapter 4 of
the Administrative Plan as outlined in the December 16, 2025 Memorandum from
Home Forward staff to the Board of Commissioners.

ADOPTED: DECEMBER 16, 2025

Attest: Home Forward:

Ivory N. Mathews, Secretary Matthew Gebhardt, Chair

Home Forward Board of Commissioners
December 2025



STAFF REPORTS

Home Forward Board of Commissioners
December 2025

83



Procurement & Contracts Department
MONTHLY CONTRACT REPORT
Contracts Approved 10/01/25 - 11/30/25

PUBLIC IMPROVEMENT
(CONSTRUCTION & MAINTENANCE SERVICES)

3729 Prime Legacy $27,540.00 el @ener o [ & (Pes e g @n e Property Mgmt 10/6/2025 2/28/2026
exterior of the property
C3706 Centric Elevator $98,500.00 Sellwood center emergency elevator door repair Property Mgmt 10/20/2025 12/31/2025
C3714 Centric Elevator $179,950.00 Hollywood East emergency elevator door repair Property Mgmt 10/22/2025 12/31/2025
C3720 A-Absolute Qomfort $160,000.00 Emergency water heater replacement at Gallagher Property Mgmt 10/22/2025 1/31/2026
Mechanical Plaza
c3737 Carbgg‘ﬁz’ﬁgia"'”g $49,879.00 Gallagher Plaza water damage buildback Property Mgmt 10/23/2025 1/31/2026
C3755 Prime Legacy $33,858.60 Emergency joist repair Humboldt Gardens Property Mgmt 11/24/2025 2/28/2026
Subtotal $549,727.60 6
GOODS & SERVICES
c3722 Cascadseoi:‘t‘i’c';::me”‘a' $4,500.00 Asbestos and lead testing at Ruth Haefner Plaza DCR 9/29/2025 12/31/2026
Ccar21 Pacific Landscape $55,950.00 Landscaping at Dekum Property Mgmt 10/14/2025 12/31/2026
Services Inc.
c3732 Carbcs";‘ﬁz'ﬁg:‘ia"'”g $25,000.00 Installation of Evacuation Chairs IFS 10/20/2025 4/30/2026
C3734 PDX Construction Group) $25,000.00 Installation of Evacuation Chairs IFS 10/20/2025 4/30/2026
c3733 DIEERS EEi $25,000.00 Installation of Evacuation Chairs IFS 10/21/2025 4/30/2026
Professional Services
C3735 Cha”gseercv‘i’:a?em'a' $25,000.00 Installation of Evacuation Chairs IFS 10/21/2025 4/30/2026
Eclipse Security .
C3736 Professionals LLC $72,800.00 Security at BCC and Doreen Place Property Mgmt 10/27/2025 3/31/2025
C3745 Carahsoft Technology $12,085.32 Electronic document signing 1300 envelopes Procurement 10/28/2025 10/15/2026
DBA DocusSign
Home Forward Board of Commissioners 84

December 2025



C3746 EV United $32,902.00 EV Charger installl at Hattie Redmond IFS 10/29/2025 12/25/2025

C3747 EV United $34,910.00 EV Charger install at Tillicum South IFS 10/29/2025 12/25/2025

Carbonell Cleaning

C3748 Solutions $150,000.00 On-call pest control prep cleaning IFS 10/29/2025 11/9/2028
Subtotal $463,147.32 11
PERSONAL SERVICE CONTRACTS
Ccar25 Keith Ferrante $35,000.00 (G BRI SCIES 1D CURIL ESlIIE EIe el el DCR 10/2/2025 4/30/2026
chaku kumtuks haws
Compose and respond as needed for City of
C3726 Dudek $11,000.00 Portland Environmental review for Ruth Haefner DCR 10/2/2025 12/31/2026
Plaza
Cca723 Wildlight LLC $1,600.00 Ceerer CRREhl) el COYEleReniier (P T&OD 10/6/2025 10/1/2026
employees
car2r Central City Concern $560,698.00 Permanent Supportive Housing for SPC Homeless Initiatives 10/9/2025 6/30/2025
participants; Rule 46-0340
C3740 C. Bailey Associates $4,600.00 Youth Theater Camp Workshops Community Services 10/27/2025 12/31/2025
Emergency
C3730 Management Services $15,820.00 NIMS/ICS training senior leadership IFS 11/4/2025 7/11/2026
International, Inc. (EMSI)
C3741 Epirees Eplleyment $950,000.00 Temp Labor Staffing & Direct Hire HR 11/19/2025 5/31/2029
Professionals
Ccars8 Greenhaven PDX $16,790.00 Sexual abuse and misconduct policy awareness TaOD 1112412025 311/2026
asynchronous eLearning module.
3759 Sy Bl $8,925.00 Design phase commissioning for Broadway Corridor DCR 11/24/2025 4/30/2026
Commissioning
Subtotal $1,604,433.00 9

PROFESSIONAL SERVICE CONTRACTS (A&E)

C3742 KPFF Qonsultlng $7,000.00 Topographic survey for strgets adjacent to Civic DCR 10/27/2025 12/31/2027
Engineers Station site
C3744 Dudek $18,500.00 Soil characterization study at Civi Station DCR 10/29/2025 12/31/2026
Home Forward Board of Commissioners 85

December 2025



C3743 Vega Civil Engineering $27,000.00 15th/Sleret improvements, Civic Station DCR 11/4/2025 12/31/2027
Total $52,500.00 3
AMENDMENTS TO EXISTING CONTRACTS
C3331 2 Buildskape $65,456.84 COs #s 4,5, 8,10, 11, 12, 13 Asset Management 9/29/2025 11/19/2025
Cc3573 1 Megan Ashlock $21,200.00 Youth Leadership Academy program coordination; | - oo ity Services 10/1/2025 1213112025
amended to extend contract
C3389 1 The Urban League of $200,000.00 PSH and Supportive Services at Fairfield; amended Community Services 10/6/2025 8/31/2025
Portland to extend contract
2965 12 LMC, Inc. $100,143.44 | Peaceful Villa added erosion control rock, blocking, DCR 10/7/2025 21112027
EV parking spots, changes to doors
2857 16 Bremik Construction $268,458.00 | routdale - minisplit protective covers, windscreens, DCR 10/8/2025 12/20/2025
wiring for EV charges
Case management and mental health services for
C3405 1 Cascadia Health $116,750.00 participants in the Shelter Plus Care (SPC) Homeless Initiatives 10/8/2025 3/31/2026
Program; amended to extend contract
C3406 1 Cascadia Health $113,030.00 | Rentassistance for participants in the Shelter Plus | o nitiatives 10/8/2025 3/31/2026
Care (SPC) Program; amended to extend contract
3517 2 VPC Consulting LLC $- Facilitate Intensive L: da::;;%Gm“ps; amended to Executive 10/8/2025 1213112025
C3421 3 Eliminate Girl Hate $- Career development for HF employees; amended to| Talent & Organizational 10/14/2025 10/1/2026
extend contract Development
C3446 1 Values Based $9,466.00 personal growth and life skills classes at SCC; Community Services 10/14/2025 8/28/2026
Mentorship amended to extend contract
3486 1 Trupp HR Inc $5,000.00 CoHbesan °°":;’:;:‘agc;tame"ded B e HR 10/14/2025 71112026
C3519 1 LHH Recrmtment $87,500.00 On-Call Temporary Labor Staffing; amended to HR 10/16/2025 1/30/2026
Solutions extend contract
Broadway Corridor Modify Preconstruction
C3639 1 Colas Construction $204,857.00 Agreement to eliminate Allowances for Design DCR 10/16/2025 9/30/2028
Assist Scopes and update with actual costs.
C2857 17 Bremik Construction $78,201.00 Troutdale - Additional boulder removal, mural wal DCR 10/17/2025 12/29/2025
prep, asphalt top coat additive, bike storage, etc
C3687 1 Pacific Sun Construction $38,448.38 New SOV, updating completion date DCR 10/20/2025 1/31/2026
C3279 2 Equity Hub $9,936.00 BidLocker renewal for 3 years Procurement 10/20/2025 11/30/2028
C3514 1 Nancy Davis Consulting $- Support & Facilitation of team refreat; amended o | - b o+ Management 10/20/2025 6/30/2026
extend contract
Home Forward Board of Commissioners 86

December 2025




A&E services for Demolition project of the N

C3622 1 Convergence $- Maryland Property - extending time due to waiting of DCR 10/20/2025 12/31/2026
Architecture ESA
C3303 3 Bremik Construction $- Civic Station CMGC Assignment DCR 10/28/2025 12/31/2026
C3303 4 Bremik Construction $5,688.00 Civic Station completion bond DCR 10/29/2025 12/31/2026
Baldwin General PCCO #011/PCO #048 - Remove and Replace
Cegen ® Contracting Inc {0 Rotten Framing Members - Mult. Bldg's RCR il sgleuze
C2761 4 KPFF Qonsultlng $11,560.00 Troutdallel ALTA survey: additional !egal Qesc?nptlon, DCR 10/29/2025 2/1/2026
Engineers partition plat, Sutherland Tree investigation
C3251 9 Hacker Architects 3 Gresham Civic Station A&E assignment to Civic DCR 10/30/2025 6/30/2027
Station Housing LP
C3364 2 Pacific Paint Northwest $ On-call painting services; amending to update IFS 11/6/2025 5/31/2027
compensation
C3389 2 e Ug’jr’:l'a‘:gg”e ct ($200,000.00) GCS CMGC GMP amendment Community Services 11/6/2025 8/31/2025
C3227 7 Walsh Construction Co. $52,856.17 Peter Paulson Gretchen Kafoury scope amendment Asset Mgmt 11/7/2025 12/31/2025
C3303 5 Bremik Construction $224,275.00 GCS early submittals and drawings DCR 11/10/2025 12/31/2026
c3627 1 KPFF Consulting $- Adding time Asset Management 11/12/2025 12/31/2025
Engineers
QEDLAB Qualified
C3632 1 Envelope Diagnostics, $3,720.00 additional scope - adhesion testing DCR 11/12/2025 12/1/2026
Inc.
3308 1 Centric Elevator $- Preventive elevator maintenance at multiple Prop Mgmt 1111712025 3/5/2027
properties; amended to extend contract
Co448 14 ONEIRELER ($737,750.94) Killingsworth CO #11 DCR 1112412025 12/31/2025
Community Builders
Subtotal $750,800.01 31

OTHER AGREEMENTS (Revenue contracts, 3rd Party contracts, MOU's, IGA's)

Subtotal

$0.00

Total

$3,420,607.93

60

Home Forward Board of Commissioners
December 2025

87




Procurement & Contracts Department
FUTURE FORMAL PROCUREMENTS
Look Ahead - December 2025

TBD Security at Sellwood Prop Mgmt In Progress
100k per contract On-Call Temp Labor Staffing HR In Progress
$500k Goose Hollow Apts Renovations DCR Feb 2026
TBD Townhouse Terrace Construction Project DCR 2026
TBD Slavin Court Construction Project DCR 2026
TBD Agency-wide legal services Exec Fall 2026
$350k Demolition at North Maryland DCR TBD
$1.5 million CHSP Housekeeping & Personal Care C(S);nr:/r;;l:;ty TBD
$1.650 million A&E for N. Maryland DCR TBD
$13.2 million CM/GC for N. Maryland DCR TBD

Home Forward Board of Commissioners

December 2025

88




	01-Public Notice
	PUBLIC NOTICE:
	Home Forward

	02-Community Partners Memo-Zoom
	03-AGENDA
	04-BOC Agenda 2025
	BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS MEETING
	DECEMBER 16, 2025, 5:30 PM
	AGENDA
	INTRODUCTION AND WELCOME
	PUBLIC COMMENT
	MEETING MINUTES
	REPORTS AND RESOLUTIONS
	THE NEXT MEETING OF THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS
	The Board Work Sessions are quarterly with the next meeting on Thursday, February 5, 2026 at Noon in person at Home Forward 135 SW Ash St. The next Board of Commissioners meeting is on Tuesday, January 20, 2026 at 5:30 PM.
	Executive Session
	AdjourN

	05-MINUTES
	06-BoC Meeting Minutes 2025-10-21
	07-RESOLUTIONS
	08-25-12-01 FY2026 Budget
	08a-25-12-01 FY26 Budget_Attachment_ Final Draft FY26 Budget Report
	09-25-12-02 Insurance Renewals Placeholder
	10-25-12-03 Voucher Rent Increase Pause
	11-STAFF REPORTS
	12-Monthly BOC Report - Dec 2025
	13-LookAhead - Dec2025



